
CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Annual Financial Report 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Table of Contents 

Paec Nwnbt.:r 

INTRODUCTORY SECTION: 

Officials of the City of Loretto, Tennessee ............... ... .. .... . ....... . I 

FINANCIAL SECTION: 

lndependent Auditor's Report ............ ..................... , . . . . . . . . . 1-3 

Management's Discussion and Analysis . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4-10 

Basic Financial Statements; 
Government-wide Financial Statements: 

Statement of Net Position . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11 
Statement of Activities .. .. ..... . . , . , . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12 

Fund Financial Statements: 
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14 
Reconciliation of Balance Sheet to Statement of Net Position of Governmental Activities 15 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Governmental Fund 16 

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 
Of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17 

Statement of Net Position - Enterprise Funds . ....... , . . .... . , . . . . . . . . . . . 18 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position -

Enterprise Funds .... ....... , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19 
Statement of Cash Flows - Enterprise Funds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget (GAAP Basis) 
And Actual 

General Fund . . . . . . . . . . . . .... ... .. . .. . . .. ..... . .. . . . .... . . , . .. . . 
State Street Aid Fund . ... . . . ... . ...... . . ..... . ... .. .... .. . . ....... . 

Notes to Financial Statements .... . . .. . ..... . ....... . . . . ... . .. . ... .. .. . 

21-24 
25 

27-52 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Table of Contents, Continued 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: 

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension l .iability (Asset) ..... ..... . . ... . .... . 
Schedule of Contributions to Lh<: Employee Pension Plan . .... .... ...... .. . . 
Schedule of Changes in Total Liability and Related Ratios .... ......... .. .. . 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION: 

Schedule of Changes in Capital Assets by Type . ... . ........ . ............ . 
Schedule of Cash and Cash Equivalents and Certificate of Deposit - All Funds .. 
Schedule of Changes in Property Taxes Receivable ....................... . 
Schedule of Debt Service Requirements - General Obligation Debt .. ... . . ... . . 
Schedule of Debt Service Requirements - Water and Sewer Fund ............ . 
Schedule of Debt Service Requirements - Natural Gas Fund .. ....... . ...... . 
Schedule of Debt Service Requirements - Sanitation Fund ...... . . . ......... . 
Schedule of Changes in Long-term Debt by Individual Issue . ...... . ........ . 
Schedtlle of Utility Rates in Force .......... . .............. . ........... . 
Schedule of State and Federal Financial Assistance .... .. ....... . . . ....... . 
Schedule of Expenditures of federal Awards ............ . ........ . .. . ... . 

COMPLIANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL: 

Report on Internal Control Over Pinancial Repmiing and on Compliance and Other 
l\ latte rs Ilascd on an Audit of financial Statements Performed 
in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards ......... .. . . ... . .. . . . 

Independent Auditor' s Repo1t on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program; 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance .................... .. .... . .. . . 

Schedule of findings and Questioned Costs . , . ...... , . . .. . . . . .. .. . . . .. ... .... . . 

Schedule of Findings and Responses ... .... .. . .... . ..... . . . . .. .... . ...... . 

Schedule of Disposition of Prior Year Comments .... .... . . . . . . . ... ... ..... .. . 

Management' s Corrective Action Plan .. . ..... . . ....... .. . .. ..... ..... . .... . 

54 
55 
56 

58 
59 
60 
61 
62 
63 
64 
65 
66 
67 
68 

70-71 

72-74 

75 

76-77 

78 

79 



INTRODUCTORY SECTION 



Elected Officials: 

Steve McMasters 

Johnathan Pettus 

Chris Beckman 

Management: 

Jesse Turner 

Jennifer Augustin 

CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Officials of the City of Loretto, Tennessee 

June 30, 2024 

Title 

Mayor 

Alderman 

Alderman 

City Administrator 

City Recorder, CMFO 



FINANCIAL SECTION 



JOHN R . POOLE, CPA 
CERTIF"IED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT 

l 34 NORTHLAKE DRIVE 

HENDERSONVILLE, TN 37075 

I ndepcm.lcnt Auditor' Report 

Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Loretto, Tennessee 
Loretto, Tennessee 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

( 615) 822- 4177 

r have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, and 
each major fund of the City of Lor tto Tennessee (the "City"), as of and for th year ended June 30, 
2024, and the re lat d -notes to_ the financial statements, which collectively compri.s lhc ity's basic 
financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Jn my opinion, th uc mpanying finan ial stat ments referr d to abo e pres nt fairly, in all material 
resp t:ts lh resp c1ivc financial p ition of the go ernmenlal acti itie.s, the busine s-type activities, 
and "d h ma ·or fund or the it , as of Jun 3 024, and the re p tive changes in financ ial position, 
~ind the re pc live bu lgetar omparison for the General Fund and the tate treet Aid Fund for the 
. car th u l!ndcd and, where appJi ab! ca h fl ws thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
a ·counting prin iples generally a ·c pted in the nited States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

I conducted my audit in accon.lance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United lates of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audit contained in the Go ernm nt udiling 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the nited States. My re -ponsibilitic under !hos ~ 
standards are fmiher described jn the Auditor's Re pon ibl!ities for the udit f Lh Finan ial 
Statements section of my report. I am required to be independent of the Cil and to meet m other 
ethical re ponsibilities, in a cordanc with the r levant ethical requirem n t· lating to my audit. I 
believe that the audit evid n e 1 ha c obtain d is suffici m and appr priate t provide a basis for my 
audit opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for tlte Financial Statements 

Management is re ponsibl for the preparation , nd fair presentation of th financial statements in 
accord 11(.:e with accounting principles generally accept d in the United talcs of meri a. and for {.he 
design, imp! m ntation, and maintenance of internal ontrol rel ant to th preparation 3nd fair 
presentation of financial statem nt that are fre T m material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing lhe fimrncial stat ments. managcm nt is r quired toe alua wh ther ther are condiLions 
or c nts, con i lercd in the aggregat , that rai ·e ubst:antial doubt ab ut the il ' abi lity to continue 
a a gomg n I'll for twelv~ m nth b and the financial statemenl date in ·ludin any lllT ntl 
known information tb:.tt ma rais ub tantial doubt shortly thereafter. 



Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My object ivt:s arc to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole arc 
free from malcriaJ misslatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's repon lhat 
includes my opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high Jevel of assurance but is noL absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audJt conducted in accordance wiU, generally acceptetl auditing 
standards and Government Auditing Standards will a lways deLect a material misstatement when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulUng from fraud is higher than for one 
resulling from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional om1ss1ons, 
misrepresentations, or che override of internal conu·ol. Misstatements are considered material if there 
is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgement 
made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements . 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government, 
Auditing Standards, I: 

❖ Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
❖ Identify and assess the risks t)f material misstatement of the financial stalemenls. whether due 

to fraud or en·or, and design and perform audit procedures respons ive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis. evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

❖ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstam:es, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the City ' s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

❖ l~vnluutc the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

❖ Conclude whether, in my judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the City's ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period ohime. 

I am required lo communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
lhe planned scope and timing of the audit, significam audit findings, and certain intcnu1I control-related 
maners that I identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally a<.;cepted in the United States of America requfre that the Required 
Supplementary Information, which includes Management's Discussion and Analysis, the Schedule of 
Changes in Net Pension Liability (AsseL), the Sch~tlule bf Contributions .to the Employee Pension Plan, 
and the Schedule ol' Changes in Total Liability and Related Ratios, be presented to supplement t he 
basic financia l statements. Such information is the responsibility o f management and, all11ough nol a 
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standurds Uoard 
who considers it to be an essential part of financial repo,ting for placing the basic financial statements 
in an appropriare operational, economic, or historical context. I have applied certain limited procedures 
to the required supplementary infonnation in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the Uniwd St.ates of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about tho methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the infomrntion for cons istency with management's 
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responses to my inquiries, the ba.si~ financial statements. and other knowledge I obtained during my 
audit of the basic financial statements. I do not express an opinion or provide any assu rance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide me with .sufficient evidence to express an 
opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementmy Information 

My audit was conducted for the purpose or forming opinions on the financial statements that 
col lcctively comprise the Town's basic financial statements. The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal 
Awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Pal't 200, Uniform Administration 
Requirements. Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for f-ederaJ Awards, and the other 
supplcmenL:.iry information are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required par! 
0r Lhc basic financial statements. The supplementary information section, as listed in the table of 
contents, is presented for purposes or additional analysis and is not a required part of thi; basic financial 
statements. Such information is the responsibility or management and was derived from and relates 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. 
The information has been subjected lo the auditing procedures applied in tbe mrdit orll,c basic financial 
statements and ce1tain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the undel'lying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements 
or to the basic financial statement's themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In my opinion, the 
supplementary informatjon is rairly stated in all material respects in reltttion to the basic financial 
statements as a whole. 

Other Information - Introductory Section 

Manugcmc11t is responsible for the Introductory Section included in the annual report. The Introductory 
Section, as listed in the table ol' cont<.:nts, tloes not include the basic financial statements and my 
auditor's report thereon. My opinion on the basic financial statements does not cover the lntroductory 
Section, and I do not express an opinion or any other assurance thereon. 

In connection with my audit of the basic financial statements, my responsibility is to read the 
Introductory Section and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the Introductory 
Section and basic financial statements, or Lhe Introductory Section otherwise appears Lo be materially 
misstated. ff, based on the work performed, I conclude Lhul irn uncol'l'ctted material misstatement or 
the Introductory Section exists, I am required to describe it in my report. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

fn accordance with Government Auditing Standards, I have also issued my report dated December 16, 
2024, on my consideration of the City's internal control over financial reporting and on my tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws. regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope or my testing of internal control over 
nnancial reporting and compliance and the results of thal testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness or the City's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. Thal report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance wilh Government Auditing Standards i11 considering 
the City's internal control over financial rcporling and compliance. 

J o---h R P ~c c Pt\ 
December 16, 2024 
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MANAGEMENT'S 
DISCUSSION AND 

ANALYSIS 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

As management of Lhe City or Loretto, Tennessee (the City) we ofter readers of the City's financial 
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2024. The analysis focuses on significant financial position, budget changes 
and variances from the budget. and specific issues related to funds and the economic factors 
affecting the City. Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) focuses on cunent year 
activities and resulting changes. 

Financial Highlights: 

The assets of the City of Loretto exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year 
by $9,295,815. Of this amount, $719,819 (unrestricted net position) may be used to meet the 
gowrnment's ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

The government's total net position increased by $1,424, 163, as the City's granl revenues 
increused as comJ)ared 10 the prior year. The City's total revenues increased $1,191,846 due to 
increases in grant revenues and user-related revenues from increased usage, Expenses were higher 
in the t;urrcnt year due lo increased repair and maintenance expenses and grant activities. The 
governmental funds showed an increase in net position of$789,943 due to increased revenues. As 
of the close: or the eul'rent fiscal year, the Ci Ly 's governmental funds reported combined ending 
fund balances of $760,960. 

At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $562,877 
or 21 % of the total general fund expenditures. 

The City's business-like activities total net position increased by $634,220 due to increased grant 
revenues and user-related fees. 

The City's total debt increased by $1,354,816 as the City borrowed for several capital asset 
purchases. The City paid $100,960 to reduce governmental debt and $138,660 to rcclucc enterprise 
fund debt. All of the City's debt is paying as scheduled. 

Overview of the Financial Statements: 

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Loretto' s basic 
financial statc,uents, The City's basic .foianciaJ statements comprise three components: (1) 
government-wide financial statements, (2) fund financial statements, and (3) notes to lhe financial 
statements. This report also contains other supplementary info1mation in addition to the basic 
financial statements. 
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Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide :financial statements are designed 
to provide readers with a broad overview of the Cily,s finances, in a manner similar to a private­
sector business. The Statemenl of Net Position presents information on all the City's assets and 
liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or 
decreases in net posi tion may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the 
City is improving or deLeriorating. The ' latemcnt of Activities presents .infom1ation showing how 
the governm1.:nt's net position changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net 
position arc rcpo11cd as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless 
of the timing ur related <.:ash ilows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reporled in this statement for 
some items U1at will only result in cash flows in fut\tre fiscal petiods (e.g., uncollecred tax). Both 
of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City lhat are principally 
llllpported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from olher flmt;lions 
thal are intended Lo recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges 
(business-lyp' activities). The governmental activities of lhe C ily of Loretto include general 
gov<:rmm:nt, pcrso1111el, finance. parks, planning, police, fire, disposal service. streets anti public 
works. The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 11-12 of this report. 

A Fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources thal have 
been segregated from specific activities or objectives. The City of Loretto, like other state and 
local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance­
related legal requirements. All of the funds of the City arc govcmment'al funds. Governmental 
Funds arc funds used lo account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental 
activities in the government-wide financial statements. l lowcver. unlike the government-wide 
financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and 
outflows of resources, as well as on balances of resources available at the end of the fiscal year. 
Such information may be useful in evaluating a government's near-term financing requirements. 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful LO compare U1e information presented for governmental fw1ds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in tbe government-wide financial statements. 
l3y lloing so, readers may better w1derstand the long-term impact of the government's ncar-tcn11 
financing decisions. Both tJ1e governmental fund balance sheet and governmental fund statement 
of revenues, expcnditur~s, and changes in fond balar\ces provide a reconciliation to facilitate this 
comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities. 

The City maintains two indiviclllal governmental fund.,; and three proprietary funds. Lnfonnation is 
presented scpanlh:ly in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund 
statement or revenues. expenditures. and changes in fund balances for the funds all of which are 
considered to be major funds. 

The City of Loretto adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund. A budgetary 
comparison statement has been provided for the general fund to demonstrate compliance with this 
bu<lgcL The basic !inancinl statements can be found on pages 14-25 of this report. 
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The notes provide additional information tbat is essential to a full understanding of the data 
provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the financial 
statements can be found 011 pages 27-52 of this report. 

Financial Analysis of the Financial Statements --Government-wide Financial Analysis 

As noted earlier. net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial 
position. In the case of the City of Loretta's assets exceeded liabilities by $9,295,815 at the close 
of the most recent fiscal year. 

By far the largest portion of the City 's assets renects its investment i11 capital assets (e.g .. land. 
builJing~. machim:ry, cquipml:nl. tmd infotstructurc) less any related debt used to acquire those 
asscls that is still Olllstanding. The City uses these capital assets to provide services lo citizens; 
consequently. thcs1: assets are not uvajJabtc for futw·c spending .. l\ltbough the City's investment in 
its capital as.sets is reported net or related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to 
repay this debt mnsl be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be 
used to liquidate these liabilities. 

Financial Analysis of the Financial Statements - City of Loretto's Net Position - 2024 

Current and other assets 
Capital assets 
Total assets 

Deferred outflows 

Long-term liabilities outstanding 
Other liabilities 
Total liabilities 

Deferred inflows 

Net position: 
Net investment in capital assets 

Restricted 
Unrestricted 

Total net position 

Governmental 
Activi1ies 

$ 1,194,935 
2.76? .715 
3,957,650 

296,355 

1,062,748 
444,926 

1,507,674 

167,976 

1,699,967 
198,083 
680.305 

$2,578,355 

6 

Business -Type 
ACLivitics 

1,447,863 
8.673.400 

I 0, 121,263 

308,451 

2,09 [,538 
1,596.804 
3.688,342 

23,912 

6,581,862 
96,084 
39,514 

6,717,460 



Financial Analysis of the Financial Statements - City of Lorctto's Net Position - 2023 

Current and other assets 
Capital assets 
Total assets 

Deferred outflows 

Long-term liabilities outstanding 
Other liabilities 
Total liabilities 

Defen-ed inflows 

Net position: 
Net investment in capital assets 

Restricted 
Unrestricted 

Total net position 

Governmental 
Activities 

$ 704,559 
1.681.454 
2,386,013 

239,311 

560,118 
105,347 
665,465 

1,121,336 
188,025 
479,051 

$ t,788,412 

Business -Type 
AcLivities 

1,0}5,525 
6.453333 
7.488,858 

249,078 

1,239,352 
100.098 

l,339,450 

315,246 

5,213,981 
85,869 

783,390 
6,083,240 

At the end to the current fiscal year, the City is able to report positive balances in all categories of 
net position, both for the government as a whole, as well as for its separate governmental and 
business-type activities. The same situation held true for the prior year. 

Financial Analysis of the Financial Statements 

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance 
related legal requirements. 

Governmental Funds 
The focus of the City of Lorette's govemrnental funds is to provide information on near-term 
inflows, outflows and balances of resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City's 
financing requirements, in particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure to a 
government's net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 

The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end of the current fiscal year, 
unassigned fund balance or the general fund was $562,877. As a measure of the general fund's 
liquidity, it may be useful LO compare both unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total 
fund expenditures. Unassigned fl.ind balance represents 2 1 % of Loral general fund expenditures. 
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Comparison of Revenues and Expenses 2023 -2024 

2023 2024 
2023 2024 Change Business- Business• Change 

Governmental Goveouncntal Between type type Between 
Activities Years t,cl viti~ t,ctiviti~ Years 

Revenues: 
Program revenues: 

Charges for services '201,787 245,301 43 ,514 1,858,669 2,119,011 260,342 
Operating grants and contributions 81 431 132,210 50,779 0 0 0 
Capital grants and contributions 0 594, 192 594.192 694,720 809,354 114,634 

General revenues: 
Property taxes 172,928 230.889 57,961 0 0 0 
Sales taxes 883,775 865.272 (18,503) 0 0 0 
Beer and liquor taxes 114,177 143,663 29,486 0 0 () 

Other local taxes 60,466 68 524 8,058 0 0 II 
lnoorne and excise taxes 600 (609) 0 0 0 
Miscellaneous 31,092 70,37" 39,283 37,346 50,05 . 12,70 

Total revenues $1.546,265 S2.3 0.426 S804, 161 S2.590.735 S2,97M20 87,611 

Expenses: 
General government 396,621 358,662 (37,959) 0 0 0 
Police department 463,525 487,771 24,246 0 0 0 
Fire depanment 74,761 150 128 75,367 0 0 0 
Public works 72,942 87.48S 14,543 0 0 0 
Parks and recreation 38 1,727 370,231 (I 1,496) 0 0 0 
Swimming pool 69,147 78,047 8,900 0 0 0 
Library 4,858 28,159 23,301 0 0 0 

Water and Sewer 0 0 0 1,170,193 1,464,338 294,145 

Natural Gas 0 0 0 709,388 660,376 (49,012) 

Sanitation 0 0 0 166,948 219,486 52,538 

Toi.al expenses $1 ,463 ,581 $1,560,483 $96,902 $2,046.529 $2,344,200 $297.671 

increases in Net Position 82.684 789.943 707,259 S44.206 634,220 90,014 
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Governmental Budgetary Highlights 

The City maintained its expenditure budgets during the year. See pages 21-25 for further 
information about these individual fund budgets. 

Capital Assets 
The Cily of Lorello's investment in capital assets from its governmental activities at June JO, 2024, 
am,..iunts Lo $2.762.715 (net of accumL1latcd deprc<.:iation) and its busincss-lypc activities amounts 
to $8,673.400. This invc::;tment in capital assets is in land, buildings. improvements. machinery 
and equipment. There was no increase in the City's investment in capital assets for the current 
fiscal year. 

City of Lorctto's Capital Assets 

Land, buildings and improvement 
Equipment and utility plant 
Less accumulated depreciation 
Net Capital Assets 

Governmental 
Activities 

$3,687,680 
1.405,62 I 

(2,330,586) 
$2,762,715 

Business-Type 
Activities 

l37,509 
15,794.578 
(7,258.687) 
8.673.400 

Additional information on the Cit:y of Loretta's capital assets can be found in the notes to the 
.financial statements section of this report. 

Long-Term Debt 

The City has governmental long-term debt of $1,062,748 and utility long-term debt totaling 
$2,09 I ,538 which was used to make improvements to the utility system. The City's total debt 
increased by $1 ,354,816 as Lhe City hon-owed for several capital asset purchases, The City paid 
$ I 00,960 to reduce govcrnmentitl debt and $13 8.660 lo reduce enterprise fund debt. See pages 61-
65 for additional information. 

Economic Factors and Next Y car's Budget and Rates 

In the 2024-2025 budget, General fund revenues arc budgeted to increase from Lhe 2023-2024 
budget year primarily due to increases in local revenues and the state shared revenues. ·n1c City's 
budget has grown by an increasing commercial and retail base producing J,jgher local sales tax 
receipt<;. The City" s Utility fund budget will not change signilicantly from the previous year. 

All of these factors were consjdcrcd in preparing the City's budget for the 2024-2025 fiscal year. 
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Requests for Information 

This financial report is designed lO provide a general overview of the City of Loretto, Tennessee'· 
finances for all those with an interest in the government's finances. Questions concerning any of 
the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be 
addressed to: 

Jesse Turner 
City of Loretto 
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Cash and cash equivalents 

Certificates of Deposit 

Recelvables 

Internal balances 

Inventory 

Cap\tal assets not baing depreciated 

Capital a~sets, net of aocumulated depreciation 

Total Assets 

Deferred Outflows of Resources; 
Deferred outflows of resources - OPEB 
Deferred outtlows of resources - pension 

Total Deferred Olrtf)ows of Resources 

LiabiUtjes, Deferred Inflows and Net Position 

Uabil11ies: 
Accounts payable 
Accrued ex_penses 
Tol.lll OPEB Liability 
Net pension liability 
Unearned revenue - ARPA grants 
Long-term liabinties: 
Due within one year 
Due in more than one year 

Total Liabilities 

Deferred Inflows of Resources: 
Deferred Inflows of resources - property tax 
Deferred lnfiQVJs o resources - OPEB 
Deferred Inflows of resources - pension 

Total Deferred lnfiows of Resources 

Net Position; 
Net investment 111 Cap\tal Assets 
Restricted - Debt Service 
Restricted - State streeL aid fund 
Unrestncted 

Total Net Position 

CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Net Position 

June 30, 2024 

Gollernrnental 
Acbvlties 

764,095 

31,286 

248,959 

150,595 

0 

172,185 

2,590.530 

3 ,957,650 

5,620 
290,735 
~ 6,355 

271 ,862 
46,403 

9,902 
116,759 

0 

103,911 
958,~7 

u,07,674 

145,000 
13,196 

9.7&1 
167,976 

1,699,967 
0 

198,083 
680.305 

2,578,355 

See accompanying notes to financial statements 
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Business-type 
Activities Total 

800,846 1,564,941 

101 ,621 132,907 

630,289 879,248 

(150,595) 0 

65,702 65,702 

2,536,590 2,708,775 

6,136 810 8,727.340 

10,121 ,263 14,078,913 

5,850 11,470 
30~601 593,338 
308,451 so41a1is 

1,169 ,769 1,441 ,631 
63,824 110,227 
10,306 20,208 

121 ,525 238,284 
231 ,380 231,380 

142,040 245,951 
1,949,4198 2,908 335 
3.688,342 5.19~ !jj!i 

0 145,000 
13,7J4 26,930 
10,178 19,958 
2:i,91~ 191 688 

6,581,862 8,281,829 
96,084 96,084 

0 198,083 
39,514 

6 '717 .460 
7111 ,619 

!J12!lS1il1s 



Func1Ion/Programs 

Govemment Ac:tillitfes: 
General government 
Police department 
Flre department 
Publloworks 
Swimming pool 
Parks and recreation 
library 
Htghway and streets 

Total GovFJrnmental Activities 

Business - type Activities: 
Water and Sewer Fund 
Natural gas fund 
Solid Waste fund 

Total Business 'rype Activities 

Total 

CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Activities 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Program Revenues 
Operating Capital 

Charges for Grants and Grants and 
f::iwenses Services Contributions Conl.(i~U!(Q(IS 

358,662 32,940 68.240 594,'192 
1\87,771 89,456 0 0 
150,128 0 0 0 
33,005 0 0 0 
78,047 61,753 0 0 

370,231 53,467 0 0 
28,1 59 0 0 0 
54 480 7 ,685 63,970 0 

1,560,483 245,30 I 132 210 594,192 

1,464,338 1,176,023 0 809,354 
660,376 740,001 0 0 
219,486 202 987 0 0 

2,344 200 2,119,011 0 809.354 

3.904 ,683 2,364 ,312 32 210 1.403,546 

General Revenues: 
Property taxes 
Public utility taxes 
Sales taxes 
Beer an<l liquor taxes 
Franchise taxes 
Business taxes 
Interest income 
Other 

Total general revenues 

Changes in Net Position 

Net Position - beginning of year 

Net position - end1ng of year 

See accompanying notes to finariclal statements. 
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Net (Expenses) Revenue and 
Q!JiUlQes I □ Net PQsMioo 

Governmental Business-T ype 
~ ~ IQra! 

336,710 0 336,710 
(398,315) 0 (398,315) 
(1 50,128) 0 (150,1 28) 

(33,005) 0 (33,005) 
(16,294) 0 (16,294) 

(316,764) 0 (316,764) 
(28,159) 0 (28,159) 
17175 0 17175 

(586,780) 0 {588,780) 

0 521 ,039 521,039 
0 79,625 79,625 
0 (16,499) (16,499) 
0 584,165 584165 

(588,780) 584,1 65 (4,615) 

201,736 0 201 ,736 
29,153 0 29,153 

865,272 0 885,272 
143,663 0 143,663 
13,875 0 13,875 
54,649 0 54 ,649 

5,269 30,293 35,582 
65,086 19,762 84 848 

1,378,723 so.oss- 11<12B1na 

789,943 834,220 1,424,163 

1 ,788,412 6,083,240 7,87i,652 

215781355 6,717 460 9,295,815 



FUND FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Certificates of deposit 

Accounts receivable: 
Property taxes receivable 
Other governments 

Due from other funds 

Total Assets 

BaJancc Sheet 

Governmental Funds 

J unc 30, 2024 

General 
Fund 

571 ,335 
31,286 

602,621 

152,520 
91.116 

243 636 

154,022 

$1,0 0,..79 

l.iabilitic~ Dcfcrrcu lnnu\\ of Rt!SOUl"Cc.'S Illld Fund Balance 

Liabilities: 
Accounts payable $271,862 
Due 10 other funds $3,427 
Accrued expenses 9,593 

Total Liabilities 284 882 

Deferred Inflow of Resources: 
Deferred inflowi; - current properly taxes 145,000 
Deferred intfows - deliquent property taxes 7,520 

Total Deferred Inflow ofResourccs 152,520 

Fund Bah1nce: 
Unassigned 562,877 
Restricted 0 

Total Fund Balance 562,877 

Total Liabilities, Deforred In flows and Fund Balance $1,000,279 

State Street 
Aid Fund 

192,760 
0 

I92 760 

0 
5,323 
5 23 

0 

$198,083 

0 
0 
0 

0 

0 
0 
0 

0 
198,083 
198,083 

$198,083 

The notes accompanying Lhe financial statements are an integral prut of these financial statements. 
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Total 

764,095 
$31,286 
795,381 

152 520 
96,439 

248,959 

154,022 

$1,198,362 

271,862 
3,427 
9,593 

284,882 

145,000 
7,520 

152,520 

562,877 
198,083 
760,960 

$1,198,362 



CITY OF LOREITO, TENNESSEE 

RcconcillKlion of the Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position 
of Governmentnl Activities 

June 30, 2024 

Amounts reported for fund balance - total governmental funds 

Amounts rep0t1ed for governmental activities in the statement of net 
r,osition are different becousc: 

C p1111! s~ts us~d In covernmental .1c1lv1lles are not linancwJ 
11:M111ru.'S n,nd, therefore, are not repurtctl in the govm1111er11al funds 

Other long rerm assets are not available to pay for curr,nt-pcriod expenditures 
and therefore arc deferred in the governmental funcls 

Pe11s1nn related aocounts - governmental Junds to nor record these post-benefit 
obligations 
Net pension liability 
Deferred out0ow - pension 
Deferred Inflow ~ pension 

OPEB related ac~ounts - govtrnmental funds to not record these post-benefit 
obligations 
Tomi OPEB linb11ity 
Deferred outnow - OPEB 
Deferred inflow• OPEB 

Long-tenn liabilities, including bonds payable are not due, and puyable in the 
current period and therefore are not recorded m the funds 
Aci:;rued vucation expense 
Long-term debt 

Net Po~it1on of governmental nctivltics 

Sec accompanying notes to financial statements 
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$ 

s 

760.960 

2,762,71 S 

7,520 

(116,759) 
290,735 

(9,780) 

(9,902) 
5,620 

(13,196) 

(36,810) 
(1 .06-.748) 

_ 78 ,355 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Revenues, E:tpcnditures and Changes in Fund Balance 
Governmental Funds 

Revenues: 
Taxes 
lntergovemmental 
Fines and fees 
Miscellaneous 

Total revenues 

Expendilul'es: 
General government 
Police deprutmenr 
fire department 
Public works 
Swimming pool 
Parks nnd recreation 
Library 
Cupital outlay: 
General government 
Police dcpo.rtmcrfl 
Fire depW11nen1 
Pubhc works 
Parks and rc:crelitiun 
Library 
Debt service: 
Prindpal 
fntc:rest 

Total expenditures 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures 

Olher linnncing sources: loan proceeds 

Net change in fun balance 

Fund balance, beginning of yoar 

Fund balnncc, end of year 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

General Stare Street 
Fund Fund 

1,073,325 0 
832,464 60,721 
205,116 0 
J 74,.983 3 17 

2.-85.888 114.538 

284,565 0 
458,200 0 

94,486 0 
87,485 0 
78,047 0 

294,265 0 
28,159 0 

49,975 0 
60,714 0 

446,703 0 
25,590 54,480 

632,898 0 
2,696 0 

100,960 0 
16. 79 () 

2.6 1.4-2 54,-180 

(375,534) J0,058 

603,590 0 

228,056 L0,05& 

334,821 188,025 

562,877 Sl9X,083 

See accompanying notes to financial talements. 
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Total 
Governmentul 

Funds 

1,073,325 
893,)85 
205, ]16 
178, 800 

S2,JS0,426 

284,565 
458,200 
94,486 
87,485 
78,047 

294,265 
28,1 59 

49,975 
60,714 

446,703 
80,070 

632,898 
2,696 

100,960 
16,679 

S2,7JS,902 

(365,476) 

603,590 

238,114 

522,846 

$760,960 



crrY OF LORE'IT01 TENNESSEE 

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures am.I Changes in Fund Balance 
of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities 

For the Year Ended June JO, 2024 

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds: 

Amounts reported for governmentnl activities in the slJltement of net 
position are different because; 

Revenues in Lhe stntement of activities that do nol provide current tinanclal resources 
are not reported as revenues in the funds. 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expend itu res . However, in the statement 
of activitie,~ lhc cost of those assets is allocated over I heir estimnted useful lives and 
reported as depreciation expense. 

Acquisiuon of capital ussets 
Depreciation exp~nse 

Liabilities not reported in the governmental fund - change in accrued vacation liabi li ty 

Liabilities not reported in the governmental fund-change in !Jt!ll~ion plan accrual 

Liabilities not reported in the governmental fund - change in post retirement benefits liability 

Revenues reported ln the statement of activities that increase long-term debt 

Expenses reponcd i11 the swtement of activities that do not require the use of current 
linanc,al resources are not reported 11.S exf)t'nditures in the governmental funds 

Debt principnl pe) m1:n1s 

Change in Net Position ofgovemmental acth·itics 

Sec a~cornpanying notes to financial statements 
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s 238,114 

565 

1,273,056 
(191 ,795) 

(4,885) 

(23,961) 

1,479 

(603,590) 

100.960 

78'J,911J 



~ct. ~ml Dcfcm:d 0 111 now, 

CIUTcnt Assets: 
Cash and cash equivalenls 
Cenificates of Dcposir 
Cusroiner accounls rcccivublc, net of allowance 
Due from other funds 
Inventory 

Total CuJTCnl Asscls 

Capi1ot AsSCIS, 

Cap,1at assets in service 
Lc,s accrnn11latcd dcp,·ucia11011 

T01ol Cnpi1al A~~1:1s, Nc1 

Tolnl l\.'isets 

Deferred outllows: 
Deferred outflows of ,csources - OPEB 
Deferred 011tflows of resources - pcnsfon 

Total Deferred O11tnows 

Currcnl Liobillties: 
Accu11n1.s payable 
Accrued c.~~nses 
Net OPEB Liability 
O1,c to 01her fimds 
Unenmcd revenue - ARPA grants 
Cun'Cnl n1a1l,rllic, - long-tcnn debt 

Total Cu,rent Liabilities 

Other Liabilities: 
Ne1 pensfon linbillly 

Tora! O~1cr Liabililics 

Long-Tenn Dcbl 

Total Linbililii:s 

Deferred !nOows: 
Deferred l110ow of resources - OPC:8 
Deferred ionow ofrcs0<1rccs- pension 

Toro! Def•rrtd Jnnows 

Nc1 Position: 
Net invcslmenl in ~npital assets 
Rcstric1cd • Debi service 
Unrcslrrc1cd 

Tolnl NCI Po1i1 fon 

CITY OF LOREITO, TEN ESSEE 

Water and 
Sewer Fund 

S423,548 
101,621 
589,288 

0 
46,591 

1,161,048 

14,707,698 
,c..su~,:'81J) 

.:'O•I ,,10~ 

SII.JM,.131 

2.638 
IJl>,•11>8 

S13?, I0C, 

1,161 ,055 
40,168 
4,648 

120,050 
23 1,380 

74,856 
l,632,I.S7 

34,805 
54,805 

1,843, I 7S 

6,194 
•1,S'IO 

10,784 

6,286,375 
96,08-1 

(,I IM,X ll) 

Sta tern en I or Net Position 

Enterprise Funds 

June 30, 2024 

Natural Gas 
Fund 

S308,398 
0 

22,971 
3,427 

19,111 
353,907 

913,678 
\SN.71!1! 
3J8,H114 

569-,1101 

2,065 
1011,799 

S10 ,SM 

7,792 
13,306 
3,637 

16,788 
0 

40;784 
82,307 

42,892 
42,892 

24,020 

4,847 
-,592 

274,090 
0 

369,917 

644.007 

Sanitation 
Fund 

S68,900 
0 

18,030 
0 
0 

86.930 

310,71 I 
I 1~11,fi l,IJ 
IJ0,097 

S2l7,C07 

1,147 
59.33 

S60:181 

922 
10,350 
2,021 

17,184 
0 

:ia.100 
Sli,877 

1 ,Sl8 
:U,818 

s:uoo 

163,005 

:?,6?J 
1,9% 
4,689 

2 1,397 
0 

88,'1 I 7 

109,814 

il1e notes DCQompauying 1he fi nnnci~l statemen(s are an inlcgral part of these financia l staterncnls. 
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Total 

800,846 
101,621 
630.289 

3,427 
65,702 

15,932,087 
(7.-SUM?) 
S,l, 73,•I00 

S I0..17 5.2!l.S 

S,&SO 
302,60 1 

$308, ISi 

1,169,769 
63,824 
10,306 

154,022 
231,380 
1•12.0 10 

1,771.),11 

t 1.5.25 
121,n.5 

1,•)49;10 

J ,812.,361 

13,734 
10,178 
23,912 

6,581 .862 
96,084 
39,514 

Ii, l7.,IIIO 



Operating Revenues: 
Service lees 
Tap and connection fees 
Other income 

Total Operating Revenues 

Operating Expenses: 
Sal ries 
Payroll taxes 
Employee benefits 
Training and travel 
Utilities 
Professional services 
Natural gas purchased 
Repair and mainLennncc 
Supplies 
Office expense 
Dues, subscriptions and fees 
Vehicle expense 
Rent 
Insurance 
Miscellaneous 
Depreciation 

Total Opcruling Expenses 

Operating income (loss) 

Nonoperaling Revenues (Expenses): 
lntcresl income 
Insurance r!!COVedes 
Sale of assets 
Interest expense 

CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Revenues, Expenses 
ancl Changes in Net Position 

Enterprise Funcls 

For the Year Endeil .June 30, 2024 

Water and 
Sewer Fund 

$1 ,027,299 
148,073 

651 
1. 176,023 

364,534 
37,156 
68,193 
2,91 I 

170,167 
25,579 

0 
183,331 
I 59 456 

13,527 
9,100 

15,728 
0 

41,195 
2,515 

336,IJ? 
I, -9,501 

(253,486) 

22 021 
794 

11,678 
(34,829) 

Total Nonopcr::iLing Revenues (EiqJcnses) (336) 

Capital contributions 809,354 

Net change in position 555,532 

Net Position, July I, 2023 5,408,107 

Net Position, June 30, 2024 $5,963,639 

Natural Gas Sanitation 
Fund Fund 

$733,467 $202,987 
6,534 0 

0 0 
740,001 202.987 

210,195 l I 6,421 
21 ,425 I 1,867 
23,097 20.475 

1,585 0 
6,657 731 

14,105 4,385 
266,889 0 

8 733 11,420 
22,148 11,526 

860 1,386 
3,626 259 
4,948 16 525 

32,500 0 
8,436 1,294 

0 130 
31,920 20,695 

657.]24 21 ?. I 14 

82,877 (14, l17) 

6,735 1,537 
0 0 

4,000 3,290 
(3,252) (2.372) 
7,483 2.455 

0 0 

90,360 (JI 672) 

553,647 121 ,486 

$6,M,0()7 $109,814 

The notes accomp1111ying the financia l statements are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Total 

$1,963,753 
154,607 

651 
2,119,01 I 

691.150 
70,448 

I IJ,765 
4,496 

177,555 
44, 069 

266,889 
203,484 
193.) 30 

15,773 
12,985 
37,201 
32,500 
50,925 
2,645 

388,732 
2,303,747 

(184,736) 

30,293 
794 

18,968 
('10.453) 

9,602 

809,354 

634220 

6,083,2,IU 

$6,717,460 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Enterprise Fund Types 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Water and Natural 
Sewer Fund G1:is Fund 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities: 
Cash received from customers 679,352 740,001 
Cash paid to suppliers (563,320) (355,752) 
Cash paid to employees (466,446} {252,735l 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities (350.4 14) 131,514 

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities : 
Acquisition of capita! assets (1,446,604) (31,337) 
Capital contributions 809,354 0 
Interest paid (34,829) (3,252) 
Loan proceeds 990,846 0 
Repayment of debt (72,550) {40,210) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and Financing Activl!tes 246,217 (74!799) 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities: 
Redemption (purchase} of certificate of deposit (2,372) 0 
Interest received 22,021 6,735 

Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities 19,649 6,735 

Net Change in Cash {84,548} 63,450 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, July 1, 2023 508,096 244,948 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, June 30, 2024 423,548 308,398 

Reconciliation of Operating ln9ome to Net Cash 
Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 

Operating income (loss) (253,486) 82,877 
Adjustments to reconc]le operating income to net cash 
provided (used) by operating activities: 

Depreciation 336,117 31,920 
Sa1e of assets 11,678 4,000 
Insurance proceeds 794 0 
Change in assets (increase) decrease: 

Receivables (496,671) 0 
Inventory 42,833 (1,950) 
Due from other funds 0 4,205 
Prepaid assets 1,793 2,043 
Deferred outnows (26,777) {20,954) 

Change in liabilities increase (decrease): 
Total OPEB liabllfty 161 125 
Net pension liability 45,966 33,284 
Accounts payable 6,968 855 
Accrued expenses 20,654 2,967 
Due to other funds 12,920 (3,661) 
Unearried revenue - ARPA grant 231,380 0 
Deferred inflows (284,744) {4 ,197) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities (350,414) 131,514 

Sanitation 
Fund 

200,037 
(18,827) 

(1 47,665) 
33,545 

0 
0 

(2,372) 
0 

{25,900) 
{28,272) 

0 
11537 
1,537 

6,810 

62,090 

68,900 

(14,127) 

20,695 
3,290 

0 

(2 ,950) 
0 
0 
0 

(11 ,642) 

70 
18,490 

922 
4,006 

17,184 
0 

{2,393} 
33,545 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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Total 

1,619,390 
(937,899) 
(866,846) 
(185,35§2 

(1 ,477,941) 
809,354 
(40,453) 
990,846 

(138,660) 
143,146 

(2,372) 
30,293 
27,921 

(14,288) 

815,134 

800,846 

(184,736) 

388,732 
18,968 

794 

(499,621) 
40,883 

4,205 
3,836 

(59,373) 

356 
97,740 
8,745 

27,627 
26.443 

231 ,380 
(288,941) 
(185,355) 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures 
and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget (GAAP Basis) and Actual 

General Fund 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Original Final Positive 
Budget Budget Actual (Negative} 

Revenues: 
Taxes: 

Property taxes $142,000 $142,000 $201 ,736 59,736 
Public utility taxes 28,000 28,000 7,841 (20,159) 
Local sales tax 660,000 660,000 652,325 (7,675) 
Local beer and liquor tax 123,500 123,500 142,899 19,399 
Franchise taxes 16,739 16,739 13,875 (2,864) 
Business taxes 52,000 52,000 54,649 2,649 

Total Taxes 1,02?,239 1,022,239 1,073,325 51 ,086 

Intergovernmental: 
TVA in lieu 0 0 21,312 21 ,312 
State sales tax 208,680 208,680 212,947 4,267 
State beer tax 0 0 764 764 
State special petroleum tax 3,182 3,182 3,249 67 
Grants 0 600,000 594,192 (5,808) 

Total Intergovernmental Revenue 211 ,862 811,862 832,464 201602 

Fines and fees: 
Swimming pool 52,500 52,500 61 ,753 9,253 
Police fines 75,000 75,000 89,456 14,456 
Parks and recreation 43,000 43,000 53,467 10.467 
Other fines and fees 0 0 440 440 

Total Fines and Fees 170,500 170,500 205,116 34,616 

Miscellaneous: 
Rent 3,000 3,000 32,500 29,500 
Insurance recoveries 0 0 59,081 59,081 
Street maintenance contracts 10,000 10,000 7,685 (2,315) 
Donations 0 0 68,240 68,240 
Sale of assets 0 0 459 459 
Miscellaneous 90,000 90,000 7,018 (82,982) 

Total Miscellaneous Revenue 103,000 103,000 174,983 71,983 

Total Revenues 1,507,601 2,107,601 2,285,888 178,287 

The notes accompanying the financial statements are an integral part of these f inancial statements . 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures 
and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget (GAAP Basis) and Actual, Continued 

General Fund 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Variance with 
Fina! Budget 

Ori9inal Final Positive 
Budget Budget Actual (Negative) 

Expenditures: 
General Government: 

Current: 
Salaries 96,020 96,020 113,154 (17,134) 
Payroll taxes 6,600 6,600 8,712 (2,112) 
Employee benefits 19,250 19,250 25,486 (6,236) 
Utilities 26,000 26,000 11,798 14,202 
Professional services 42,980 42,980 39,389 3,591 
Office supplies 3,500 3,500 5,609 (2,109) 
Supplies 17,500 17,500 10,658 6,842 
Public relation 15,000 15,000 25,987 (10,987) 
Travel and training 12,000 12,000 13,055 (1,055) 
Insurance 6,750 6,750 11 ,923 (5,173) 
Dues and subscriptions 6,500 6,500 3,784 2,716 
Repair and maintenance 32,500 32,500 15,010 17,490 
Miscellaneous 0 0 0 0 

284,600 284,600 284,565 35 
Caprtat outlay 0 0 49,975 (49,975) 

Total General Government 284,600 284,600 334,540 (49,940) 

Public Safety: 
Police Department: 
Current: 
Salaries 285,000 285,000 320,287 (35,287) 
Payroll taxes 21 ,803 21 ,803 11,343 10,460 
Employee benefits 71,500 71 ,500 47,935 23,565 
Insurance 23,100 23,100 15,383 7,717 
Vehicle expense 40,000 40,000 27,515 12,485 
Supplies 23,500 23,500 10,697 12,803 
Utilities 8,000 8,000 4,684 3,316 
Professional services 10,300 10,300 20,335 (10,035) 
Miscellaneous 0 0 21 (21) 

483,203 483,203 458)200 25,003 
Debt service 10,450 10,450 11 , 1-94 (744) 
Capital outlay 85,000 75,000 60,714 14,286 

Total Pol ice Department 578,653 568,653 530,108 38,545 

The notes accompanying the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements . 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Revenues, Expeni;fitures 
and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget (GAAP Basis) and Actual, Continued 

General Fund 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Variance With 
Final Budget 

Original Final Positive 
Budget Budget Actual (Negative) 

F-ire Department: 
Current 
Salaries 32,700 32,700 25,256 7,444 
Supplies and maintenance 48,500 44,500 51,129 (6 ,629) 
Utilities 7,300 7,300 7,795 (495) 
Professional services 0 0 2,092 (2,092) 
Insurance 10,050 10,050 8,1 92 1,858 
Miscellaneous 0 0 22 (22} 

98,550 94,550 94.486 64 
Debt service 28,680 28 ,680 28,648 32 
Capita l outlay 0 600.000 446,703 153,297 

Total Fire Department 127,230 723.230 569 ,837 153,393 

Public Works: 
Salaries and benefits 18,600 18,600 19,939 (1,339) 
Street lighting 70,000 70,000 63,373 6,627 
Maintenance and supplies 25,000 39,000 4,173 34,827 

113,600 127,600 87 ,485 40. 115 
Capital outlay 0 0 25,590 (25,590) 

Total Public Works 113,600 127,600 113,075 14,525 

Swimming Pool: 
Salaries 43,500 43 ,500 33,766 9,734 
Payroll taxes and benefits 3,300 3,300 3,332 (32) 
Utilities 19,100 19,100 989 18, 111 
Maintenance and suppl ies 47,500 47,500 31,419 16,081 
Insurance 5,700 5,700 8,541 (2 ,841) 
Miscellaneous 0 0 0 0 

119,100 119,100 78,047 41,053 
Capital outlay 0 0 0 0 

Total Swimming Pool 119,100 119. 100 78,047 41 053 

The notes accompanying the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements . 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures 
and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget (GAAP Basis) and Actual; Continued 

General Fund 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Original Final 
Budget Budget Actual 

Parks and Recreation · 
Salaries 80,000 80,000 97,128 
Payroll taxes 5,500 5,500 7,695 
Employee benefits 24,250 24,250 21 ,343 
Vehicle expense 7,000 7,000 5,951 
Insurance 9,800 9,800 8,131 
Concessions 20,000 20,000 16,925 
Materials and supplies 50,000 50,000 20,878 
Repair and maintenance 40,000 40,000 52,895 
Utilities 45,700 45,700 56,674 
Professional services 0 0 6,645 
Miscellaneous 750 750 0 

283,000 283,000 294,265 
Capital outlay 550,000 550,000 6321898 
Debt service 42,300 42,300 77,797 

Total Parks and Recreation 875,300 875,300 1,004.960 

Ubrary: 
Utilities 3,000 3,000 2,823 
Supplies 1,500 1,500 24,286 
Insurance 1,050 11050 1,050 

5,550 5,550 28,159 
Capital outlay 0 0 2,696 

Total Library 5,550 5,550 30,855 

Total Expenditures 2. ,04,033 2,704,033 2.661,422 

Excess (deficiency) of Revenues 
over Expenditures (596,432) (596,432) (375,534) 

Other fihancing sources: loan proceeds 660,000 660.._000 603,590 

Net change in fund balance 63,568 63,568 228,056 

Fund Balance, July 1, 2023 334,821 334,821 334,821 

Fund Balance, June 30, 2024 398,389 398,389 562..877 

Variance with 
Final B.udget 

Positive 
(Ne9atlve) 

(17,128} 
(2,195) 
2,907 
1,049 
1,669 
3,075 

29,122 
(12,895) 
(10,974) 

(6,645) 
750 

(11,265) 
(82,898) 
{35,497! 

(1 29,660) 

177 
(22,786) 

0 
(22,609) 
{2.696) 

(25,305) 

42,611 

220,898 

(56,410) 

164,488 

D 

164.488 

The n<;>tes accompanying the financiaf statements are an Integral part of these financial statements. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures 
and Chaoges in Fund Balance • Budget and Actual 

State Street Aid Fund 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Original Final Positive 
Budget Budget Actual (Negative) 

Revenues:. 
Intergovernmental: 

Gasoline .03 tax 8,400 8,400 8,991 591 
Gasoline 1989 tax 4,400 4,400 4,869 469 
Gasoline 2017 -tax 15,100 15,100 15,631 531 
Gasoline and motor fuel 29,465 29,465 31,230 1,765 
Interest 3,500 3,500 3,817 317 

Total Revenues 60,865 60,865 64,538 3.673 

Expenditures: 
Streets: 
Street lights 0 0 0 0 
Capita l Outlay 60,865 60,865 54,480 6,385 

Total Expenditures 60,865 60.865 54.480 6,385 

Excess {deficiency) of revenues 
over expenditures 0 0 10,058 10,058 

Fund Balance , July 1, 2023 188,025 188,025 188,025 

Fund Balance, June 30, 2024 $188,025 $188,025 19S,083 10;058 

The notes accompanying the financial statements are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 

(I) Summarv of Significant Accounting Policies 

The City of Loretto, Tennessee ("the City") was incorporated under Chapter 26 Provisions of Ho11sc Dill 
No. 79 of 1985 as amended. The Ci Ly operates under a Mayor and Board of Aldermen form of government 
and provides the following services as authorized by its cha11er: public safety (police, fire. and street 
lighting). highways and streets, water and sewer, natural gas, sarutation, culture-recreation, public 
improvements, planning and zoning, and general administrative services. 

Reporting EnWy: 

ln evaluating the City as a reporting entity, management follows all applicable GASB statements and has 
addressed all potential component unJts (traditionally separate reporting entities) for which the City may be 
financiaily accountable and, as such, should be included within the City's .financial statements. The City 
(the primary govcnummt) is financially accountable if it appoints a voting majority of the organization's 
governing board and ( l) it is able to impose its will on U1e organization or (2) there is a potential for lhe 
organization to provide specific financial beneCTt or to impose specific financial burden on the City. 

dditionoUy. the primary government is required to consider other organizations for which the nature and 
significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that excJusion would cause the 
reporting entity's financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. The City bas no component units at 
yearend. 

The financial statements now include government-wide financial statements prepared on the accrual basis 
of accountiJ\g and tbe economfo measurement focus for all funds. The fund financial statements present 
in.formation for individual major funds rather than by fund type. Norunajor funds are presented in one 
column. The reporting includes the reporting of capital assets. infrastructure and depreciat1on, the 
elimination of account groups, and the inclusion of management's discussion and analysis. 

The government-wide financial statements present the City's programs between business-type and 
governmental activities. 

Government -Wide and Fund f-inancial Statements 

The Government-wide financial statements, the statement of Net Position and the statement of changes in 
Net Position, rcporl infonnalion on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary government. For the 
mos1 parl. the effect of the intcrfund activity has been removed from these statements. Government 
activities, which normally are supported by taxes and imergovernmental revenues, are reported separately 
from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 

(1) Sumrnarv of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 

The statement. of activities demonstrates the degree to which tbe direct expenses of a given fw1ctioo or 
segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a 
specific function or segment. Program revenL1es include (i) charges to customers or applicants who 
purchase. use or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment 
and (ii) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a 
parti cular !'unction or segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are 
repo1ted as general revenues. 

Separate _financial statements are provided for governmental funds and enterprise funds. Major individual 
governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund 
financial statements. 

Measurement Pocus. Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the enterprise fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded 
when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless oftbe timing of related cash 
flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levjed. Grants and similar 
items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 

Governmental fund revenues are reported using the cun-enl :financial resources measurement focus and the 
modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they become both measurable 
and collectable within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the cL11Tcnt 
pc1iud. The government t:onsidcrs property la..-xcs and most governmental revenues as available if received 
within 45 days or ycarend. Expenditures are recorded generally when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting. Ilowever. debt service cxpcnditures1 as well as expendit1.m~s related to compensated absences 
and claims and judgments are recol'dcd only when payment is due. 

Property taxes, state shared revenues, and interest associated with the cun-ent fiscal pe1iod are all considered 
Lo be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of lbe current fiscal period using the 
criteria specified in the paragraph above. All other revenue items arc considered to be mem;urable and 
available only when cash is reccivod by the government. 

The government reports the following major funds: 

General Fund - The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. It is used to account for all 
financial resources of the g_1.,;neral gov~rnment except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

State Street Aid Fund - The State Street Aid Fund is used to account for the operations of the state shared 
gasoline revenues. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 

The government reports the following major enterprise funds: 

Water and Sewer Fund - This fund accounts for the activities of the water and sewer department, which 
operates and maintains a water distribution system for residents and businesses on a user charge basis. All 
activities necessary to provide th.is service are accounted for in such a manner as to show a profit or loss 
similar to comparable private enterprises. 

Natural Gas System Fund - Tb.is fund accounts for the activities of the natural gas department, which 
operates ru1d maintains a gas system for residents and businesses on a user charge basis. All activities 
necessary to provide this service are accounted for in such a manner as to show a profit or loss similar to 
comparable private enterprises. 

Sanitation f.und-This f1.1nd accounts for the activities of the sanitation department, which picks up garbage 
for residents and businesses on a user charge basis. All activities necessary to provide this service are 
accounted for in such a manner as to show a profit or loss similar to comparable private enterprises. 

The Enterprise funds arc used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar 
to private business enterprises - where Lbe intent of the governing body is that the costs (including 
depreciation) of providing goods or services lo lhc general public on a continuing basis be financed or 
recovered primarily through user charges. 

J\s a general rule the effect of interfund activity bas been eliminated from the government-wide financi1:1l 
statements. Exceptions lo this general rule are payments-in-lieu taxes and other chru·ges between the 
government's utilities and various other functions of the govemmenl. Elimination of these charges would 
distort the direct costs and program Tc venues reported for U1e various functions concerned. 

Amounts reported as progTnm revenues include (i) charges to customers or applicants for goods, seNiccs, 
or privileges provided, (ii) operating grants and contributions, and (iii) eapital grants and c0nlJibutions. 
General revenues include all taxes and internally dedicated resources. 

Enterprise fonds distingujsb operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues 
and expenses gi;ncrally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection 
with an enterprise fund 's principal ongoing operations. The p1'incipa1 operating revenues of the various 
utility fonds arc ebm·ges to customers for sales and services. The Utility Fund also recognize as operating 
revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of connecting new customers to the system. 
Operating expenses for enterprise fonds include the cost of sales and services, administrati vc expenses, and 
dcprecialion on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition arc reported as non­
operating revenues and expenses. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continuo<l 

Wbcn both restricted and unrestricted resoi1rces are available for use, it is the City's policy to use restricted 
resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. When unrestricted funds are used, the City 
uses committed, assigned then unassigned funds. 

Receivables and Payables 
Activity between funds U1at are reprcsentalive of lending/ borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end 
of the 1iscal year arc referred to as either due from/ due to other funds (i.e. the current _portion of inter.fund 
loans). Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities 
arc rep011ed in the govcrnmem-wi<le linnncial statements as internal balances. 

Advances between funds, as reported in the fund financial staLemeots. are offset by a fond balance reserve 
ac<.:ount in appl icable governmental funds to indicate that they are aot available for appropriation an<l are 
not expendable avuilable resources. /\ll trade receivables. arc shown net of an allowance for uncollectible, 
if applicable. 

Deferred Outllows/InOows of Resourc~s 
In addition to assets, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
outflows of resources. This separate financial statement clement, deferred otllfiows of resources, represents a 
consumption of net position that appl ics lo a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outilow of 
resources (expcnsc/cxpendilltre) until then. The government has two items (pension and OPEI3) that 
qualifies for reporting in this category. 

In addition to liabilities, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
inflows of resources. This separate .financial statement element, defe1Ted inflows of resources, represents 
an acquisition or net position that applies to a fi.1turc period(s) and so will not be rccogru~ed as an inflow of 
resources (rcvt.:11ue) until that time. The government has items that qualify for reporting in this category. 
/\ccordingJy, lhc item:; are rcporll.:d in the government-wide Statement orNet Position and the govcmrnental 
funds bahincc sheet. These revenues ar.:: from tho fo llowing sources: current and delinquent property Laxes. 
which do not meet the availability criteria io governmental funds. These amounts are defctTed and 
recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become avai lable. Additionally, the 
government has two items (pension and OPEB) that qualifies for reporting in this category. 

Nd Position Flow Asstunption 
Sometimes the government will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted 
resources. In order to calculaLc the amounts to report as restJ·icted - net position and unrestricted - net 
posilion in the government-wide and enterprise fund financial slatements, a flow assumption must be made 
about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the City 's policy to consider 
re::;tricted - net position to have been depleted before unrestticted - net position is applied. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 

(1) Summarv of Significant Accounting PoUcies, Continued 

Property Tax 
The City's 11ropcrty ta'< is levied each July l on the assessed value ljsted as of the prior January I for all real 
and personal property locaterl i11 the City's legal boundaries. All City laxes on real estate are declared to be 
a lien on sud; realty from January l oJthe year assessments are made. 

Assessed values are established by the State of Tennessee at the following rates of appraised market value: 

Public Utility Property 55% 
Industrial and Commercial Property 
-Real 40% 
- Personal 30% 
Farm and Residential Property 25% 

Taxes were levied at a rate of $0.33 per $100 of assessed valuation for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024. 
Payments may be ina<le during the period from July I th.rough November I. Current tax collections of 
$ l 46,595 for the fiscal year ended .lune 30, 2024 were approximately 99 percent oflhe lax levy. Delinquent 
taxes arc turned over to the County for collection as required by the City's Mwtl.cipal Code. 

Capital Assets 
Capital assets, which include property1 plant and equipment, and infrastructure assets consisting of certain 
improvements other L.ban buildings, including roads. bridges, slrects ru1d sidewalks, and drainage systems 
are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide: 
financiul statcm~nts. Capital assets arc defined by the government as assets with an individual cost of $500 
and an estimated useful life in excess of three years. All capital assets arc valued at historical cost or 
estimated useful life in excess of three years. All capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated 
historical cost, if actual historical cost is not available. Donated capital assets are valued at their estimated 
fair value on the date donated. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value o[ 

the asset or materially extend asset Ii ves are not capitalized. Interest incmred during the construc1ion phase 
of capital assets of business-type activities is expensed when paid and thus not a part of the capitalized cost. 

Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. 

The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

Buildings 
Improvements 
Equipment 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 

(1) Summarv of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 

Compensated Absences 
The City's policy permits employees to accumulate earned but unused annual (vacation) leave and sick 
days. Annual leave days may accumulate to a maximum of 20 days over the term of employment. Sick days 
may accumulate to a maximum of 90 days over the term of employn:ienL During Lhe first year of 
employment, five vacation days arc earned, after the first year ten vacation days are earned per year, and 
after ten years of employment fifteen vacation days arc earned each year. Twelve sick days are earned each 
year. Upon termination, employees receive paymeni for accumulated annual leave days. Compensated 
absences will be liquidated with expendable financial resources. 

The City has accrued a liability for unused sick and vacation pay which is earned, but not taken by City 
employees. 

Balance Balance 
July 1, Addi- Retire- June 30, 
2023 tions ments 2024 

Governmental activities 31,925 4,885 36,81 0 
Business-type activities 33,451 1,534 34,985 

The liability for compensated absences attributable to the Town's governmental funds is recorded in the 
government-wide financial statements as a long-term liabi lity and is a reconciling item between U1c fund 
and government-wide financial statements. Compensale<l absences related to business-type activities arc 
charged to expense with a corresponding I iability established in both the government-wide and fund 
financial statements. 

Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires manag.cment to make estimates and assumptions that affect the- reported amounts of assets and 
liubiJilics at the dale of tbe financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and ex1Jenscs during 
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Pension 
For purposes of mcasming the net pension liability, dcfen-ed outflows ofresotu"ces and deferred inflows of 
n.:sourccs related lo pensions. and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position ofLorello' s 
participation iu the Public Employee Retirement Plan of the Tennessee Consolidated Retirement System 
(l'CRS), and additions 10/dedt1ctions from Lorctto·s fiduciary net position have been determined on the 
saml! bash; as lhey arc repo11ed by the TCRS for the Public Employee Retirement Plan. For lh1s purpose. 
benefits (including refonds of employee contributions) are recogn~ed when due and payable in accordan,.;c 
with the benefit terms of the Public Employee Retirement Plan of TCRS. Investments are reported at fair 
value. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash anti ca!;h equivalcnls consist primarily of savings accounts, certificates of deposit with original 
maturities three months or less. 

Restricted Assets 
Certain proceeds of the Enterprise fund loans, as well as certain resources set m,'idc for their repayment. arc 
classified as restricted assets on their respective balance sheets because tJ1ey are maintained in separate bank 
accounts and their use is either limited by applicable bond covenants or represent proceeds from bond issues 
that are restricted for use in construction. 

Long,-Lcnn ObligaHons 
ln the government-wide financial statements. and enterprise fund types in the fund financial statements, 
long-tem1 debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental 
activities, btisincss-Lypc attivities: or enterprise food type statement of Net Position. Debt issuance costs, 
such as insw-ancc costs, fees and other related costs are recognized as an expense. 

In the fund, financial statement~, governmeotaJ fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well 
as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other 
financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, 
whether or not wilhh0ld from the actual debt proceeds received. are rcp0t'ted as debt service c..-xpcnditures. 

Government Wide - Net Position 
Net position is a component of equity and is displayed in the following three components: 

Net l.nvcstmcnt in Capital Assets - Consists of capital assets, net of accunrnlated depreciation an<l retluced 
b) the outstanding balances uf any bo11tls that are attributable Lo the acquisition. consu·uction, or 
irnprovcmcnt or those assets: dcbl related to unspent proceeds or other restricted cush and investments is 
excluded from the determination. 

Restricted - Consists of net positiott for which constraints are placed thereon by external parties, such as 
lenders, granters, €Qntribtuors. laws, tegulations, and enabling legislation, including self-imposed legal 
mandates, less any related liabilities. ·111c restrictions are evident from tbe classification titles. 

Unrestricted - All other net position that does not meet the description of the above categories. 

Inventory 
fnveotory of the Utility fw1ds is valued at cost, using the first in first out melhod. Inventory of all the 
governmental funds consists of expendable supplies held for consumption and are recorded at cost under 
the consumption method. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting l)olicics, Continued 

fund Balancu 
The City implemented GASB 54 which addresses issues related to how fund balances are reported. Fund 
balances are now reported in the following manner: 

Nonspcndablc J7und Balance - This dassification includes amounts that are (a) nol in spendable form, or 
(b) legally or rnnlmct1.1ully required tu be maintained intact. 'I11u .. not in spendable form·• criterion includes 
terms Lhat arc not expected to be converted to cash, for example; inventories, prepaid amounts, and long­
term notes receivable. 

Restricted Fund Balance - This classification includes amounts that are restricted for specific purposes 
stipulated by external resource providers, constitutionally or through enabling legislation. Restrictions may 
cffccLively be c;hanged or lifted with the consent of resource providers. 

Committed fund Balance - TI,js classification includes amounts that can only be used for the specific 
purposes determined by a formal action of the City's highest level of decision-makjng authority, the Cicy 
Council or the City of Loretto, Tennessee. Commitments may be changed or lifted only by the City taking 
the same rormal action that imposed the constraint originally (for example: ordinance). 

/\ssigned Fund 13aJancc - This classification included amounts intended to be used by the City for specific 
pw-i1oses that arc neither restrittccJ nor committed. The City Council and its designce, lhe Recorder, have 
the aurl1ori1y Lo assign amounts to be used for specific pttrposes. Assigned amounts also include all residual 
amounts in governmental fonds (except negative amounts) that me not dassillcd as nonspcndablc, 
restricted, or committed. 

Unassigned Fund Balance - This fund balance is lhc residual classification for the general fund. It is also 
used 10 tcport negative fund balances in other governmental funds. 

In circumstances when an expenditure is made for a purpose for which amow1ts are available in multiple 
fund balance classifications. fund balance is depleted in the order of restricted. commil1cd, assigned, and 
unassigned. 

Other Post-Employment Benefit Plan- (OPEB) 
For the purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows ofresources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to other postemployment benefits, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary 
net position of the City of Loretta's participation in the Local Government OPEB Plan (LOOP), and 
additions to/deductions from the City of Loretto fiduciary net position have been determ.Jned on the same 
basis as they arc reported by the LOOP. For this purpose, benefits arc recognized when due and payable in 
accordance with benefit terms of the LOOP. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 

(l ) ummarv of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued 

Budgets and Budgetruy Accounting, 
111c City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements: 

a. Formal budgets are adopted and approved by Council vote on an annual basis for the General and 
Special Revenue Funds. These budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted uccounting 
principles (GAAP). 

b. The City Council approves, by ordinance, total budget appropriations by department only, The 
mayor is authorized to transier budget amounts belwcen line items within each department~ however, any 
revisions U1at altcJ the total appropriations of any fund must be approved by the City Council. 

c. The budget amounts shown in the financial statements are the final authorized amounts as amended 
during the year. 

(2) Cash and Casl1 Equivalents 

The City is authorized to invest funds in Federal treasury bills and notes. State of Tennessee Locn.l 
Government Ln cstmcnt Pool and financial institution demand deposit accotmts and certificates of deposit. 
During the year, the City invested fonds that were not i cnmediaLely needed in certificates of deposit~, savings 
accounts and investments in the State of Tennessee Local Government lnvestment Pool. The City has 
deposit poUcies to minimize custodial credit risks. All deposits wilb unru1cial institutions must be secured 
by one of two methods. One method involves financial institutions lbat parlicipate in the bank collateral 
pool administered by the state Lreasmer. Participating banks determine the aggregate balance of their public 
fund accounts fi.>r the Slate of Tennessee and its political subdivisions. The amount or collateral required to 
secure these public deposits must eqllal at least 105 percent of the average daily balance of public deposits 
held. Collateral sccurjlics required to be pledged by U1c participating banks lo protect their public fond 
accounts are pledged to the state treasurer on behalf of lhe bank collateral pool. The securities pledged Lo 
protect these accounts are pledged in the aggregate rather than against each account. The members of the 
pool may be required by agreement Lo pay ru1 assessment to cover any deficiency. Under this additional 
assessmcm agreement, public fund accounts covered by the pool are considered to be insured for purposes 
of credit risk disclosure. 

Fur deposits ,vith linunc.:ial institutions that do not participate in the bank collateral pool, state statutes 
require that all deposits be collatcrafrlcd with collateral whose market value is equal to I 05 percent of the 
uninsured amount of lhe deposits. The colla1eral must be placed by the depository bank in an esaow account 
in a second bank for the benefit of the city. 111e City's deposits with financial institulions are folly insured 
or collatcralizcd by securities held by the depository bank in the govcrnment>s nan1e. Additionally, 1hc 
dcposil accounts are covered by the J7 cdcral Depository Insurance Coverage. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 

(3) ccount Rccc· able 

Accounts receivable at June 30, 2024, consist of the following: 

I.her Property Customer 
Fund Go ·rnment Taxes ccounts Total 

General Fund 1 116 152,520 243,636 
Special Revenue Funds -,3 3 5 323 
Enterprise Fw1ds 640,119 640,119 
Less allowance for 
doubtful accounts (9,830) 

Total 152,520 §30,282_ 

(4) 

A ·ummmy of 1,;hanges in general capital asset · as presented in the governmental activities column of the 
go 1crnmcnt- wide limmcial talcmcnts is as follows: 

Balance Balance 
Ju.lf 11 2023 Additions DisQosals June 30. 2024 

Land $172,185 0 0 172,185 
Buildings 885,393 658,569 0 1,543,962 
Improvements 1,917,053 54,480 0 1,971,533 
Equipment 845,614 560,007 0 12405,621 

Total 3,820,245 1,273,056 0 5,093,301 

Less Accumulated Depreciation _Q_, 138,791) (2,330,586) 

Net capital assets in service $1,681,454 _ 76_)} 5 

Ali assets, except land of $172, J 85, are being depreciated. 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows: 

General Fund: 
General government administration 
Police department 
fire department 
Parks and Recreation 

Total 
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(4) Capital et , Continued 

A summary of changes in Enterprise (Water and Sewer) Fund capital assets and related accumulated 
depreciation follows: 

Balance Balance 
July 1, 2023 Additions Disposals June 30, 2024 

Land $69,200 0 0 69,200 
Construction in progress 887,392 2,487,211 975,522 2,399,081 
Utility plant 11,006,287 1,004,548 0 12,010,835 
Equipment 167,357 61,225 0 228,582 

Total 12,130,236 3,55_2,984 975,522 14,707,698 

Less Accumulated Depreciation (6,167,172) (6,503,289) 

Net capital assets in service $5,963,064 $8,204,409 

All as cts, ·c pt land and e ern nt of $69,200 and Construction in Progress of $2,399,081 are being 
deprcci•llcd. D prcciation exp ns us $336,117 in 2024. 

A summary of changes in Enterprise (Natural Gas) Fund capital assets and related accwnulated depreciation 
follows: 

Balance Balance 
July 1, 2023 Additions Disposals June 30, 2024 

Land and easement $68,309 0 0 68,309 
Utility plant 5571594 0 0 557,594 
Equipment 256,438 31,337 0 287,775 

Total 882,341 31,337 0 913,678 

Less Accumulated Depreciation (542,864) (574,784) 

Net capital assets in service $339,477 $338,894 

All assets, except land of $68,3 09, arc being depreciated. Depreciation expense was $31,920 in 2024. 
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(4) 

A summary of changes in Solid Waste capital assets and related accumulated depreciation follows: 

Balance Balance 
July 1, 2023 Additions Disposals June 30, 2024 

Equipment 310,711 0 0 310,711 

Total 310,711 0 0 310,711 

Less Accumulated Depreciation (159,919) (180,614) 

Net capital assets in service $150,792 $130,097 

All asset are being depreciated. Depreciation expense was $20.,695 for the year ended June 30, 2024. 

(5) Long-Term l)cbt Pavable and 0th r Obligati ns Payable 

Direct Borrowings 

The following schedule reflects the changes in long-term debt, as shown for governmental activities during 
the fiscal year 2024. 

Balance Balance Due Within 
Loans Payable: ~ 1 , 2 0 2 3 Additions Retirements June 30, 2024 One Year 

Capstar $ 7.8,231 $ $ 25,402 $ 52,829 $ 26, 165 
Security Bank & 
Trust $ 365,734 $ 557,266 $ 40,000 $ 883,000 $ 41,000 
TMBF $ $ 46,324 $ $ 46,324 $ l0,744 

State Bank $ 9,704 $ $ 9,704 $ $ 

State Bank $ 678 $ $ 678 $ $ 
State Bank $ 105,771 $ $ 25.176 $ 80,595 $ 26,002 

TotaJ $ 560,118 $ 603.590 $ 100,960 $1, 2,748 103 .911 
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(S) able and Other Obligations Pavablc, Continued 

The following schedule reflects the changes in long-term debt, as shown in the Enterprise (Water and Sewer) 
Fund during the fiscal year 2024. 

Balance Balance Due Within 

Loans Payable: July L 2023 Additions Retirements June 30 2024 One Year 

2023 Vehicle Loan $ 46 487 $ $ 8,226 $ 38,261 $ 8,903 
Series 2021 $ 513,200 $ $ 41 000 $ 472,200 $ 42,100 
I ntcrim construction loan $ $ 990,846 $ $ 990,846 $ 

Series 2017 $ $ 23)24 $ 416,727 $ 23,853 

Total $ 990,846 $ 72 550 $ 1,918,034 $ 74 S 6 

The following schedule reflects the changes in long-term debt, as shown in the Enterprise (Natural Gas) 
Fund during the fiscal year 2024. 

Balance Balance Due Within 

Loans Payable: July I, 2023 Additions Retirements June 30, 2024 One Year 

2023 Vebicle Loan $ 38,514 $ $ 7,210 $ 31,304 $ 7,284 
Series 2021 $ 66,500 $ $ 33,000 $ 33.500 $ 33,500 

Total $ 105,014 $ $ 40,210 $ 64,804 $ 40,784 

The following schedule reflects the changes in long-term debt, as shown in the Enterprise (Sanitation) Fund 
during the fiscal year 2024. 

Balance Balance Due Within 

otes Payable: July 1, 2023 Additions Retirements June 30. 2024 One Year 

Trustmark Bank $ 1342600 $ $ 25,900 $ 108,700 $ 26.400 

Total $ 134,600 $ $ 25,900 $ 108,700 $ 26,400 
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(5) Long-Term Debt Pa able and Other Obligation 

Principal and interest requirements to maturity on all outstanding governmental bonds, loans and obligations 
as of June 30, 2024, are as follows: 

Year Ending neraJ Obligation 

June 30, Prin ·ipal lnL re. L 

2025 103,911 30 954 
2026 106,810 26,886 
2027 83,587 23,205 
2028 57,440 20,453 
2029 46,000 18,554 
2030-2034 252,000 72,038 
2035-2039 287,000 34,066 
2040-2041 6,000 2,770 

Total I 228a225 

Principal and interest requirements to maturity on all outstanding bonds, loans and obligations as of June 
30, 2024 arc as follows: 

Year Ending 
June 30, 

2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 
2029 

2030-2034 
2035-2039 

Total 

PLincipal 

74,856 
76,827 
78,930 
81,164 
72,599 

390,565 
152,247 

7.18 >_* 

Interest 

21,228 
18,952 
16,813 
14,788 
12,979 
40,180 
10,310 
135,i242 

atm·al Gas Fund 

Prin ipaJ 

40,784 
7,634 
8,001 
8,385 

Interest 

2,377 
1,052 

685 
302 

* A ditionally, the at ran Sew t' fund has an interim construction loan of $990,846. This loan will be 
included in this ·ch I\Jl m • the loan is l'ully fund d. 

The above bonds payable contain provisions that in the event of default, the lender can use any remedy 
allowed by state or federal law. 
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(5) Long-Term Debt Payable nnd Other Obligations Payable, Continued 

Principal and interest requirements to maturity on all outstanding bonds, loans and obligations as of June 
30, 2024, are as follows: 

Year Ending 
June 30, 

2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 

Total 

Sanitation fund 

P1incipal 

16,400 
26,900 
27,400 
28.000 

LQUQQ 

41 

Interest 

2,120 
1,605 
1,080 

546 
~ 
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(6) Pension Plan 

General Information about the Pension Plan 

Plan description. Employees of Loretto are provided a defined benefit pension plan through the Public 
Employee Retirement Plan, an agent multiple-employer pension plan administered by the TCRS. The TCRS 
was created by state statue under Tennessee Code Annotated Title 8, Chapters 34-37. The TCRS Board of 
Trustees is responsible for the proper operation and administration of the TCRS. The Tennessee Treasury 
Department, an agency in the legislative branch of state government, administers the plans of the TCRS. 
The TCRS issues a publicly available financial report that can be obtained at 
htlp://treasury.111.gov/Relirement/Boards-and-Goveman0e/Reporling-and-lnvestment-Policies. 

Benejirs provided. Tennessee Code A1motated Title 8. Chapter 34-3 7 established the bi:ocfit terms and can 
be amended only by the Tennessee General Assembly. The chief legislative body may adopl the benefit 
terms permitted by statute. Members arc eligible to retire with an umeduced benefit at age 60 with 5 years 
of service credit or after 30 years of service credit regardless of age. B1.mcftts are determined by formula 
using tbc member's highest five consecutive year average com.pensation ru1d the member· s years of service 
Ct't.!dit. Reduced benefits for early retirement are available at age 55 and vesled. Members vesl with five 
years or service credit. Service-related disability benefits are prnvided regardless of lengtb of service. Five 
years of service is required for non-service-related disability eJjgjbi lity. The service related and non-scrvicc­
relaled disability benefits are determined in the same manner as a servici.: retirement benefit but are reduced 
IO pcrtent and include projected service crcdils. A variety of death benefits are available under various 
eligibility criteria. 

Member and beneficiary annuitants are entitled to automatic cost of living adjustments (COLAs) after 
retirement. A COLA is granted each July for annuitants rcUrcd prior lo the 2nd of July of the previous year. 
The COLA is based on the change in the conswner price index (CPl) during the prior calendar year. capped 
at 3 percent. and applied to the cuncnt benefit. No COLA is granted if tJ1e change in the CPI is less than 
one-half pcrt:cnl. A one percent COLA is granted if the CPl change is between one-half percent. A member 
who leaves employment may withdraw their employee contributions, plus any accumulated interest. 

Employees covered by benefit terms. At the measurement date of June 30, 2023, the following employees 
were covered by the benefit terms: 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving bendi.ts 
fnactive employees entitled lo but not yet receiving benefits 
Active employees 

Total 

42 

9 
13 
~ 
il 
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June 30, 2024 

(6) J>cnsioo Plan, Continued 

Contributions. Contributions for employees are established in the statutes governing the TCRS and may 
only be changed by the Tennessee General Assembly, Employees contribute S percent of salary. Loretto 
makes employer contribt1tions at the rate set by the Board of Trustees as determined by an actuarial 
valuation. for the year ended June 30, 2024. employer contributions for Loretto were ($ 112,204) based on 
a rate of (-1.43%) pcn:.ent of covered payroll. 13y law, employer contributions are required to be paid. fhc 
TCRS may intercept Loretto 's state shared ta,xes if required employer contributions are not remitted. The 
employers actuarially detenniucd eontribution (A DC) and member contributions are expected to finance the 
costs ol' benefits earned by mcmbcn; during the year. the cost of administration. as well as an amorti%cd 
portion of any unfunded liability. 

Net Pension Liability (Asset) 

Loretta's net pension liabiliLy (assl'l) was measured as of June 30, 2023, and the total pension liability used 
to calculate net pension liability (asset) was dctennined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 

Actuarial t1.,·wmptions. The totnJ pension liability as of June 30, 2023, actuarial valuation was determined 
using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measm-ement: 

Inflation 2.25 percent 

Salary increases Graded salary ranges from 8.72 to 3.44 percent based on age, including 
inflation averaging 4.00 percent. 

investment rate of return 6. 75 percent, net of pension plan investment expenses, including inflation. 

Cost-of Living Adjustment 2.125 percent 

Mortality rates were based on actual experience including an adjustment for some anticipated improvement. 

Tbe actuarial assumptions used in the June 30. 2023 actuarial valuation were based on U1e results of an 
actuarial experience study perfonncd for lhc period July 1 ~ 20 t 6 through June 30. 2020. The demographic 
assumptions were adjusted to more closely reilect actuaJ and expected future experience, 
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(6) Pension I> laa, Continued 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was established by the TCRS Board of 
Trustees in conjw1ction with the June 30, 2020 actuarial experience study. 1\ blend of future capital market 
projections and historical market returns was used in a building-block method in which a besl-cstimale of 
expected future real rates ofreturn (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) 
is developed for each major asset class. These best-estimates are combined to produce the long-term 
expected rate of return by weighting the e>..l)ected future 1·eal rates by return by the target asset allocation 
percentage and by adding expected inflation of 2.25 percent. The best-estimates of geometric real rates of 
retW'n and the TCRS investment policy target asset allocation for each major asset class are summarized in 
the following table: 

Asset class 
U.S. equity 
Developed market international equity 
Emerging market international equity 
Private equity and strategic lending 
U.S. fixed income 
Real Estate 
Short-term securities 

Total 

Long-term Expected 
Reul Rcae ofRe111rn 

4.88% 
5.37% 
6.09% 
6.57% 
1.20% 
4.38% 
0.00% 

Target Allocation 
31% 
14% 

4% 
20% 
20% 
10% 

1% 
100% 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was established by the TCRS Board of 
Trustees as 6.75 percent based on a blending or the three factors described above. 

Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liabHity was 6.75 percent. 111c projection 
of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed Lhat employee contributions will be made at the 
current rate and that contributions from Loretto will be made at the actuarial ly determined contribution rate 
pursuant to an actuarial valuation in accordance with the funding policy of the TCRS Board of Trustees and 
as re4uil'e<l to be pai<l by state smtulc. Based on those assumptions, Lbe pension plan' s fiduciary net position 
was projected to be available to make projected futurl.! benefit payments of current active and inactive 
members. Thc:r~l'orc:, U1c long-tcnn cxpct:tccl raLc or return on pension plan investments was applied to aU 
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
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(6) Pen -ion, Continued 

Balance at 6/30/22 
Changes for the Year: 
Service Cost 
Interest 
Changes in Benefit Terms 
Differences between expected 
and actual experience 
Changes in assumptions 
Contributions-emp I oyer 
Contributions-employees 
Net investment income 
Benefit payments, including refund 
of employee contributions 
Administrative- expense 
Other changes 
Net changes 
Balance at 6/30/23 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 

Changes in the Net Pension Liability (Asset) 

Total Pension 
Liability (Asset) 

(a) 

$3 ,079 527 

66 549 
208 113 

201 ,179 

(125,831) 

350,010 

$ 3.429.537 

Increase (Decrease) 

Plan 
Fiduciary Net 
Position 

(b) 

$3,026,151 

45,246 
45,246 

202,168 

(125,831) 
(1,727) 

165,102 

$ 3 191.253 

Net Pension 
Liability 
(Asset) 
(a) - (b) 

$53,376 

66,549 
208,113 

201,179 

(45,246) 
(45,246) 

(202,168) 

1,727 

184,908 
$ 238,_84 

ensilf1•ify oflh n •t J e1M·ion llctbilily ~ t s ?f t ch(tn s in the discount rate. The following presents the net 
pension liabilily a s t) f L r~Ll al ulatcd u ing th discount rat of 6.7 percent, as\/ ell a what the net 
pension liabilil (asset woul .I b if it w re a]culated u ing a dis ount rate that is I-per entage-p int lower 
t5.T p ·rc.:cnt) or l-p ·rc 11tagc-point higher 7.75 p r ent) than the current rate: 

Loretta's net pension 
L iabi1 i ty (asset) 

1% Decrease 
(5 .75%) 

$725,949 

45 

Current 
Discount Rate 

(6 .75%) 

$238,284 

1 % Increase 
(7.75%) 

($164 858) 
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(6) Pen ion, ontinucd 

Pension Expense (income) and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Related to Pensions 

Pension expense. For the year ended June 30, 2024, Loretto recognized pension expense of $120,0 I 8. 

1 y ~rred 0111/lvws o/'l'IJ.,·ow·ces and ,t erred h1!f1m11s of resources. For th • ear nd d June 30, 2024, Loretto 
rep rtc<l deferred oulflO\ or resour~ s and erred inflows of res ur es r lat d to pensions from the 
following souJCcs: 

Differences between expected and 
Actual experience 
Net difference between projected and 
Actual earrung on pension plan 
Invcstrnents 
Changes in assumptions 
Contributions subsequent to the 
Measurement date of June 30, 2023 

D fcrred Outtlows of R ourccs 

321,700 

23,800 
135,632 

Total 
112,204 
593,336 

19,958 

19,958 

The amounts shown above for 'Contributions subsequent to the measurement date of June 30, 2023 ' , will 
be recognized as a reduction (increase) to net position liability (asset) in the following measurement perjod. 

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 
will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Year Ended June 30: 

2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 
2029 

Thereafter 

$94,626 
$8tl19 

$180,248 
$71,657 
$33,530 

ln the table shown above, positive amounts will increase pension expense while negative amow1ts will 
decrease pension expense. 
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(7) Other Postcmployment Benefits For Retiree Health Jnsurancc 

Plan description - Employees of the City, who were hired prior to July 1, 2015, arc provided with pre-65 
retiree health insurance benefits lbrough the closed Local Government OEB Plan (LOOP) administered by 
the Tennessee Department of Finance and Administration. This plan is considered to be multiple-employer 
defined benefit plan that is used ro provide postemployment benelits other than pensions (OPEB ). However, 
for accounting purposes, this plan will be treated as a single-employer plan .. All eligible pre-65 retired 
employees and disability participants of local governments, who chose coverage, participate in the LGOP. 

Bene.firs provided -The City offers the LOOP to provide health insmance coverage to eligible prc-65 retirees 
and disabled participants of local governments. Insurance coverage is the only postemployment benefit 
provided to rclirccs. An insurance committee created in accordance with TCA 8-27-70 I establishes and 
amends the benefit terms of Lhe LOOP. All members have the option of choosing between the prcrruer 
preferred provider organization (PPO), standard PPO, limited PPO or the wellness health~savings consumer­
driven hcullh pl!:ln (CDH P) for l1enlthcare benefits. Retired plan members, of lhc LOOP, receives the same 
plan benefits as active employees, at a blended premium rate thal considers the cost of all participants. This 
c1·cat~.s an implicit subsidy for retirees. ParlicipaLing employers determine their own poLicy related to <lircct 
subsidies provided for Lhc rclircc premiums. The City does not direcLly subsidize and arc only st1bjccl Lo Lbc 
impliciL The LGOP is funded ()n a pay-as-you-go basis and there arc no assets accumulating in a trnst that 
meets tht: criteria of paragraph 4 of GASB Statement NO. 75. 

Employees covered by benefit terms. At July 1, 2023, the following employees were covered by the benefit 
terms of the LOOP: 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 
Active employees 

Total 

0 
0 

ll_ 
ll_ 

J\n insurance committee, created in accordance with TCA 8-27-70 I, establishes the required payments lo 
tbc LOOP by member employers and employees thrnugh the blended piemiums established for active and 
retired employees. Claims liabilities of the plan are periodically computed using actuarial and sta(isticaJ 
techniques to established premium rates. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, the City paid $256 lo the 
LGOP for OPE13 benefits as Llu:y came due. 
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(7) Other J>ostcmplo,1ment Ilcnc:fits For Retiree Health Insurance, Continued 

Total OPEB Liability 

Actuarial as.rnmptions - The total OPGB liability on the June 30, 2023 actuarial valuation was determined 
using lhe follov,1ing actuarial assumplions and other inputs, applied to all the periods included in the 
measurement, unless otherwise specified. 

Inflation • 2.25% 

Salary increases - Graded salary ranges from 3.44 to 8.72 percent based on age, 
including inflation, averaging 4 percent. 

Healthcare cost trend rates - 10.3 I% for pre-65 in 2023, decreasing annually over a 11-year 
period to an ultimate rate of 4.50%. 12.44% for post-65 in 2023, 
decreasing annually over a 11-year period to an ultimate rate of 
4.50% 

Retiree's share of benefit-related costs - Members are required to make monthly contributions in order to 
maintajn tllcir coverage. For the purpose of this valuation a 
weighted average has been used with weights derived from the 
current distributions of members among plans offered. 

Unless noted otherwise, the actuarial demographic assumptions used jn the June 30, 2023, valuations were 
the same as Lhose employed in the July 1, 2022 Pension Actuarial Valuation of the Tennessee Consolidated 
Retirement System (TCRS). Thcs<.: assumplions were developed by TCRS based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study for 1he period July I. 2016 - June 30, 2020. The dcm~1graphic assumptions were 
adjusted lo more closely reflect actual and expected futw·e experience. Mortality tables are used 10 measure 
U1e probabilities of participants dyit1g before and after retirement. The mo1tality rates employed in this 
aJuation are taken from t.hc PUB-2010 Headeount-Weighted Employee mortality table for General 

Employees for non-disabled pre-retirement mortality, with mortality improvement projected gcn~rationally 
with MP-2021 from 2010. l'ost-rctfrcmcnt tables are Ileaclcount-Weighlcd Below Median Healthy 
Annuitant and adjusted wi Lb a 6% loud for males and a 14% load for females~ projected generationally from 
2010 with MP-2021. Mortality rates for impaired lives are the same as U1ose used by TCRS and are taken 
from a gender distinct table published in the IRS Ruling 96-7 for disabled lives with a I 0% load. projected 
generationally from 2018 with MP-2021. 

Disc:mmt ra,e • '!'he discount rate used lo measure the total OPEB liability was3.65 percent. This rate rcJlecls 
the interest rate derived from yields on a 20-year. tax exempt general obligation municipal bonds, prevailing 
on tbc measurement date, with an average rating of AAJJ\a as shown on the 13ond Buyer 20-ycar Municipul 
GO AA index. 
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(7) For Retiree HcaJth Insurance, oatinucd 

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 

Total OPEB liability - beginning balance 
Changes for the year: 

Service cost 
Interest 
ha□ges of b n fit terms 

Di l'ferences bet c n expected and actual experience 
Change in assumptions 
Benefit payments 

Net changes 
Total OPEB liability - ending balance 

$ 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

$ 
$ 

Total OPEB 
Liability 

(a) 
19.510 

1,944 
673 

(2,744) 
5,762 
4,937) 

698 

20.208 

hange. · in assump1ions - Th disc unt rat as changed from 3.54% as of th~ beginning or the 
mcasw·cm nl p riud to 3.65% a )r June 30, 20 hangc in as ·umption 1 ·crea ed Lh t tal PEB 
liability. Other ·hanges in assumption in Jud a ~ustmcn l initial p r capita ·osts and health lrend rates. 

ensi1h•it • o/,nud OPEB Ii rbiW to change · in th • di c:ounr rnle - Tb f Uowing pr ·scnt the t >Lal OPEB 
liabilit relat d L the LGO u well as what the total OP B liability would be if i'l w re calculated using a 
dis • imt rat • that is 1-p r ntage-point I er or 1-p rccntag higher than the cunent discount rate. 

1% Decrease 
(_.6-%) 

$21,669 

CuJTent Discount 
Rate Assumption 

(3.65%) 
$20,208 

1% Increase 
(4.6 %) 

$ 18,835 

e1n, ·itiPil oft ,tu/ PEB liability to ha11ges in th h 1alth ·ar, co·/ 1re11d ra/e -111 following presents th' 
t taJ OPEB liability r lat d to the LGUP as well as bat th tot I OPEB liabilit would be if it er 
calculated using ah altbcare cost u·cnd rate that is 1-p rcentagc-1 w r m )-per ntag -p int-high r than 
the current healthcare cost trend rate. 

Current Healthcare Cost 
1 % Decrease Trend Rate Assumption 1 % Increase 

(9 . I/ I 1 .44% d crcnsing to 3.50%) ( I 0.3 I/ 12. 14% deer asing t 4 .50%) ( 11.., 1113 .44% decreasing to .50%) 
$ 18,053 $ 20,208 $ 22,730 
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(7) 

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
OPEB 

OPEB Expense - For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, the City of Loretto recognized OPEB expense of 
($2,764). 

Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources - For the year ended June 30, 2024, the 
City of Loretto reported deferred outflows of resources and defe1Ted inflows of resources related to OPEB 
benefits in the LGOP from the following sources: 

Differences between expected and 
Actual experience 
Changes in assumptions 
Employer payments subsequent to 
The mcasun:mcnt date 

Total 

4,188 
7 026 

256 
11,470 

D fcrrcd Inflows of Res LU'ccs 

13,645 
13,285 

26,930 

The amounts shown above for "Employer payments subsequent to the measmement date" will be recognized 
as a reduction to total OPEB liability in the following measw·ement period. 

Amount.· reported as d r•ned outflo, , of resoure sand deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will 
be re ·ugnizcd in emplo ben -Ht exp n e as foll 

Year Ended June 30: 

2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 
2029 

Thereafter 

$ (5,381) 
(4,893) 
(2 404) 
(1,488) 
(1,086) 

(464) 

In the table shown above, positive amounts will increase employee benefit expense while negative amounts 
will decrease employee benefit expense. 

Plan ssets 
There are no plan assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75 . 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 

(8) ommitmcnt and ontlngcn ·i~ 

the City ·timates that pot ntial claims against th City resulting from such litigation will 
rtcct the financial stat menls or Lhe City at year nd. 

Grants: 
Amounts received from Grantor agencies are subject to audit and adju tment by Granl . r ag nci •s 
principally the Fed ral govcrrun · nt. ny disallowed claim including amom11s already co Ile ~tcd. could 
b com a liability of th appli abl fund . 

(9) 

The City is exposed to vari u • risks to general li bility and property and casualty lo · es. The City ha ' 
decided it is more economically feasible to be in a public ntity risk p ol as ppo d to pur hasing 
commercial insurance for general liability and property and casual1 o erag . The .il participal sin th 
Pt1blic Entity Par1n0rs 1 rmcrl 'I L lnsuranc P ol which is a publi ntity risk p ol stablish I by th · 
T nn s:e • unicipal Lcagu , an ass ciati n oJ mernh r cilics. The ity pa s a11 annual pr -mium to lhc l EP 
fo r its g n1.:rnl li al ility and prop~rt and ·a ualt in uran ·e c > erag . Th pool r insures thr ugh 
·ommerci I in w·unc ·ompaoics. 1 be il has not ha :I cl im in c s of insuran v r-ag( during the 
last three years. 

(10) lntcrfun<l Tran 'action 

Interfund receivables and payables at June 30, 2024 were as follows: 

Transfers ul : 
General Fund 
Sanitation fund 
NatlU'a1 Gas fund 
Water and Sewer Fund 

Total 

General Fund 

$ 
17.184 
I .7 8 

Transfers In: 

Natural Gas Fund 

3,427 

Totals 

3 _7 
17, l84 
I 7 8 

1""0,050 
57 4 

The Due To/From balance between Lhe funds are for shared purchases that were funded by the other funds . 
These amounts will be repaid in the next fiscal year. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2024 

(11) Leases 

Under OASU Statement 87, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use 
lease asset, and a lessor is required Lo t·ccognizc a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resmtrces, thereby 
enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about governments' leasing activities. Managemcnl 
has det<::rtninl..!d that Lhc City's leases do not qualify for reporting under GASB 87 due to the short-term 
nature of the leases. 
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ClTY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Required Supplementary Information 

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability (Asset) and Related 
Ratios Based on Participation in the Public Employee Pension Plan of TCRS 

Last Fiscal Year ending June 30 

2014 2015 7016 2017 2018 

Total pension liability (asset) 
Service cost s 39,586 5 37,097 s 41,899 s 43,062 4S.490 
Interest s 117,502 120,242 s 128,357 s 140,962 s 143,702 
Changes in benefit tenn s s s 
Differences between actuol & expected experience s (51,857) 10,543 s 65,9?8 (67,825) 10.147 
Change of asswnptions s s s s 5S,042 
Benefit payments, including refunds of crnJ)loycc connib"1ions s {M 19! s (62,908) s (68,054) s (70,653) s (71_476) 
Net duinge in tot.al 11cnsion li11bility (a set) s 35,712 s 104,974 s 169.200 s 100,588 s 127,863 
Total pension liability (asi;ct)-hq:inning S 1.561 ,870 s l.597282 s 1,701, <h s 1,117 1,756 s L.972344 
Total pension liability (asscl)-ending (a) S l.>97,SC SI 702.SS6 I . 71 .756 s 1,972 ,~A s 2,100, 07 

Plan fiduciary net position 
Comribmions-employer s s s s 5,255 s 11,633 
Contributions-employee s 20,542 s 22,734 s 25.407 s 26,277 s 29,081 
Net investment income s 283,431 s 60,237 s 52.351 s 224,823 s 180,331 
Benefit payments, including refund5 of employee contribu1ions $ (69,519) $ (62,908) s (68,054) S (70,653) s (7 1,476) 
AdJmnistrative ciqiensc s (538) s (711) s (1,082) S (1,259) s (1,476) 
Other s s s $, s 
Net change in plan fiduciary net position s 233.916 s 19,352 s 8,622 s 184,443 s 148,094 

Plan fiduciary net position-beginning 1,7,12,300 l.?76,216 I.NS, {IM _1104.190 s 2. 18 ,633 
Pliin fiduciary net position-.,,ding (b) S l,'176.2lb I. S51t~ ,00 190 - 18 '113"3 1. 336.727 

Net Pension Liability (assel)-ending (a) • (b/ s (378,634) S (293,01!) S /132.434) S t~lb.2S l S (236,520) 

('Ian fiduciary net position as a percentage of 1otd pension liability 123.70% 117..21% 107,08% 110,97% 111.26¾ 

Cov~n,d payroll s 410,1147 s 454,679 508,141 525,544 s 581,636 

Net pensio11 liability (asset) u a perscnfagc of covered payroll 92.16% -64,44% -26,06% -41.16% -40.66% 

l019 2020 202.l 

s 52.,.523 52,591 s 48,94? 
$ l 53,409 s 102,980 s 169,804 
s s 
s 4,655 s {27 904) s (21,317) 
s s 271,26S 

f13,4 3) (83.817) s (9.5.957) 
s 137,104 s 103.850 s 372.742 
s ::,IOll,2()7 s 2,137.311 s 2.3,1 l,lfil 
s !A7.31I s U4IJ61 s 7713.')0J 

12.732 s 19,932 s 19,846 
s 31,1129 s 33,220 s 33,076 
$ 172,863 s 122,116 657.049 

(73,483) s (83,817) (95,957) 
(1,403) s (1,506) (1 ,480) 

s s 
s 142,538 s 90,005 s 612,534 

s '-.-136,727 s !,~'7'J.16S s ::!,5611.:!.67 
2. 79.265 s _s .Z70 .3,1, 1.801 

s (U'l ,954) S (228.109) S (467,898) 

110.81¾ l097t1% 117.24% 

s 636,587 s 664,397 $ 661,521 

-38 ,01¾ -34.33¾ -70,73% 

Changes of ~,unptJoia. In 2021, :imuwtts rnponcd elmnl!Cs or :is.s11111ptinru rcsullcd r,..,m llrmi.c 16 lhc ,nllntion r:i1e, in11,i1tnc.nt rate .,r ,,mrn. u,;1 <>f-h\1og ;JJ1mmcn1 and nmnnli;y 1111p1ovements. 
Cn 2017, nnmunl 1<111111,d as chanrc, nf assuuipti,1ns rc,nltcJ fi m dr.iuic 10 tile inllat1on mto. m•c•tmcnt m1c ofre1um, o,1-or-11,ing adJUStmrnt sitloi 

GASB fl cctpiircs a 10-yc.u schedule: for this dala tn be pre. u111ed ,mnmi: \\'tlb the tntJ1lc111c11t mon ofG/\SB li8 The information in this schedule 
is not rcq111red to be pre;~nlcd rclrl)ntll\ • prior t.lw inmlrntatiou !Qtc. Please refer to pn:v,uuslY s1111111 cd dnla from TCRS GASB ,., l,s1tc for 
prior years' data, if needed. 
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l,'ll)Wlh .mJ 11111rn1!iry umpl -t:mt.flb. 

2022 Z023 

s 55,476 66,549 
s 183,520 s 208,11 3 
s 
s 227,7◄ 5 W\,170 
s 
s (101 1117) s o 2s.sJ I l 
s 365,624 s 3S0,010 
s 2,7LJ,903 B01'>J-7 
s 3,079.>!7 3.~19,.537 

28, 126 s 45,246 
s 40, 180 s 45,2t\6 
s (121,062) s 202,168 

(101 ,117) S (125,831) 
<; (1,777) s (1,727) 
s s 
s (1S5,650) s !6S,102 

s 3,181.801 S3102C, IS! 
s 3,026,151 S 3,191,2 3 

s 53,376 s 238,2M 

98.27% 93 .05% 

s 803,596 s 904,908 

6 64% 26.33% 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Sc.hcd:ul-e ofContribulicrn!I: B11~ Gn P.ar(kipRtiou 111 the 
Public Employc.c Pen,ioo Pl•n or TCRS 

for lh< Y .. r EndedJuooJO, 2014 

2015 ~ 2l!l.1 

A.ctuarially detcrn,in1:d contribution 0 n tr 

CoJ1Lrl\:nnioflS if'! rcla.ticn to tiic: 
ac1uari1lly dclcm,incd contnhlllion D 0 5255 

Conlribution dcficiem:y (c,a:ess) 

Covered-<mploy,e p•yrall 

Ccno-ibutlorr• Of• pcrconll\il• 
co•cr<d•cmplo)'« ~~y,oll 

so 

45467q 

oooy. 

so (SS,255) 

508 141 525 544 

n 00'/4 I.OW, 

li SB b~ "'Guor.a I i,.y..., sch«lulo lor 11,., d,11110 be l)l'aen1cd ,uoning wllh u,e impl«uen1n1ion of ,\ ~B 611 i!,c 
mf<>nt1illlo11 in 1h1n,i-.tdu1, is not rcqu11cd ,o ~ p. ni,d reuo,ct,vclv p1io1 to u,e unpl<:ntntoticn dote l'lns• ,ere, 
"'previolillJI supplied dalll from the TCRS GASB website for pnor ~·•ius' d•i.., in needed 

Valua1ion dllle: Actllllriolly determintd contribution r.ilcs for 6'aJ yeu 2024 wore calouloted b .. ed oo the 
J"un, 30, 2022 nctuariol valuation 

Mc1hods. -and assumptions u.sed to detem,inc: ccntributian nitc:s 

Actu•riol co•! m•thod 

Amortization m~thod 

Rem■ining amonlza.t..ion pe,iod 

As>tl ~•J uollon 

lurl■tiun 

Salarylncfe.a5e.s 

lnYUUneot R,,.r.o or!l<tum 

Rttire:me.111 age 

M<inality 

Cort of Living Adju,lmcnt.s 

Entry Age Normal 

Level doll"', closed (not !O •~oecd 20 ye011) 

Varin by Y=-

10-yur smoothed wilhio 120 por«m ccmdorio mo:kot s.Juo 

2. 2S percent 

Guuled >11lc,y !'lU Cl (tom 17210 J -H p<r<cn bostd on 
uyc. u11:l11d1n~ 1111111.tton♦ avc:n~mg 4.00 p,ctdll l , 

6 75 pc!rctnt. ntt of investment c.,,i;pens.c,. including iri.Oi.ticn 

Pattern of ,e(ircmeor de:tcrminiro by expe:l'\~nce study 

r"'"''"'"'d ioulc b.1i«l <111 ,o1uol e.1q1cn•= including on 
•d;u,1mon1 (o: "'m~ •11U<1pn1cd 1mprovomcn! 

2.llSp=cnt 

CJUIII~ ..r ump11un;. In!~ I tit, follo1,in~ ...,.,nm!tun• w,:1cchcn1t..i .i«tcaud 1110olwo ••W Oum 
~JO ct<min to ~ lret\-c1111 dr~d d11: ,n,~rr,c;,,1 u,tc: ot,cum f1--,rn 7.ZS pc.rccnl lo h.7j JJC'•~tnl. 
J«,,,.,..d 1he <D•H>i•h-.r,R WJlltln1<m (n,m l. S ,.,.,. nL 10 ?. IU po,""111, •nd mod'1focd rMnol t)' 

"'llffll"lons In !017. tl:o /olla" .~o.uu,npl:uni 1-.:1t ~ ,lc.-.""-'<d lnfl,11,nn 1111•from; 00 lt«..,m 
tr, l in r•-.it: dtCI .-d •h• '"' ""'""' rutc ., rc\U/11 fium , .,o pC,<WI TU? .!S 1""~"11<; dcort"-><d ,1,~ n,11-

or !Jl--n,j\ •djL1'l!n""t from '!,SO p<1<1'r.l ,. : 25 p••·••m, ••1~....J ,~J,uy tt•"lh 111•ik<l ""~""Cron, •• 
,.,,i;, o(4 .:.S11<1<cnl 10,111 ••~lo" r 4(l(l;,<1tt1u , r.d mod,(,edmoru,.1,w &>0umpl!o 

WJI lli2 ID!! l.!lll mu '221 2014 

5,81~ 6,166 10,497 IO,U2 12.697 18,324 112,204 

ll ,6Jl 12,732 19 9J2 19,846 18 126 45.146 ll 2..204 

(551817) (S6,366) (S9,'1H) (S9.394) (SIS,429) (Slfi,922) so 

581 6)6 536.317 664,397 66U2l BOJ S96 904,908 804 368 

2.00'/4 lOO'I. J 00'/4 :l 00,.~ }.50'1', S.00% 40'Y, 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Required upplementary Information - OPEB 

Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 

Measurement Year ending June 30 

2018 2019 2020 2021 
Total OPEB Liabillty 

Service Cost $ 3,080 s 2,856 $ 3,090 s 2,832 $ 
Interest 011 the Total OPEB Uabilitv $ 1,362 s 1,716 s 1.726 $ l,128 s 
Chahge in Benefit Terms $ $ - s - s 280,882 $ 
Difference between expected and actual experience 

of the Total OPEB liability $ $ (8,144) $ (20,385) (3 566) $ 

Changes in assumptions and other Inputs $ (2,471) 3,222 $ 874 $ 1,894 $ 
Benefit payments s s (319) $ (569) S (559) $ 
Net change in Total OPEB liability $ 1,971 $ (669) $ (15.264) $ 1,729 
Total OPES liability- Beginning $ 43,557 $ 45,528 s 44,858 $ 29,594 
Total OPEB Liability· Ending $ 45 528 $ 44,859 $ 29.594 $ 31.323 

Estimated Covered -Employee Payroll $ 508,141 $ 581,636 s 636,587 $ 664,397 

Total OPES liability as a Percentage of Covered• Employee Payroll 8.96% 7.71% 4.65% 4.71% 

otes to chedulc 

Note: There are no assets accumulating, in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 ofGASB Statement No. 75, related to this OPEB plan. 

The amounts reported for each fiscal year were detennined as of the prior fiscal year-end. The amounts reported for each fiscal year were 

determined as of the prior fiscal year-end. 

This schedule is intended to display ten years of information. Additional years will be displayed as they become available. 
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$ 

$ 
$ 

$ 

2021 2022 2023 

3,220 s 3,18 l s 1,944 
755 s 706 $ 673 

- $ - s 

7,680 s (2,145) $ (2,744) 
(10,358) $ (9,384) $ 5,762 

(808) $ (4,660) $ {4 937) 
489 $ (12,302) s 698 

31,323 $ 31,812 s 19,510 
31 812 $ 19.510 $ 20,208 

661,521 $ 803,596 $ 804,368 

4.8[% 2.43% 2.51% 



SUPPLEMENTAL 
INFORMATION 



Description 

Land 

Bufldings 

Improvements 

Equipment 
Total Capital Assets 

CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Capital Assets Used in the Operation of the Governmental Funds 

Schedule of Changes in Capital Assets By Type 

June 30, 2024 

Balance 
July 1, 2023 Additions Disposals 

$172,185 0 0 

!385,393 658,569 0 

1,917,053 54,480 0 

845,614 560,007 0 
$3,820,245 1,273,056 0 
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Balance 
June 30, 2024 

172,185 

1,543,962 

1,971,533 

1.405,621 
5,093,301 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Cash and Cash Equivalents and Certificate of Deposits 
All Funds 

Genera( Fund: 
Demand deposits 
Certificate of Deposits 

Total General Fund 

State Street Aid Fund - demand deposit 

Water and Sewer Fund: 
Demand deposits 
Certificate of Deposits 

Total Water and Sewer Fund 

Natural Gas Fund: 
Demand deposits 

Total Natural Gas Fund 

Sanitation Fund: 
Demand deposits 

Total Sanitation Fund 

June 30, 2024 

Total Cash and' Cash Equivalents - All Funds 
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Carrying 
Value 

$571,335 
31 ,286 

602,621 

192,760 

423,548 
101 ,621 
525,169 

308,398 

308,398 

68,900 

68,900 

$1 ,697,848 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

chcdulc of Changes in Property Taxes Receivable 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Collections 
Balance and Changes Balance 

Tax Year July 1, 2023 Levy in As essment June 30, 2024 
2024 $ 145 000 0 145,000 
2023 137,050 11310 146,595 1,765 
2022 5,160 0 1,909 3,251 
2021 1,621 0 133 1,488 
2020 45 0 (290) 335 
2019 100 0 (220) 320 
2018 0 0 (202) 202 
2017 0 0 (93) 93 
2016 0 0 0 0 
2015 15 0 15 0 
2014 14 0 (52) 66 

144,005 156,310 147,795 152,520 

Tax 
Adjustment snd Outstanding 

Tax Year Tax Rate Tax Levy CollecLions Taxe.s 
2024 $ 0.33 $ 145,000 $ 0 $ 145,000 
2023 0.33 148,360 146,595 1,765 
2022 0.33 137,050 133,799 3,251 
2021 0.40 111 ,460 109,972 1,488 
2020 0.40 109,169 108 834 335 
2019 0.40 106,679 106,359 320 
2018 0.35 87,057 86,855 202 
2017 0.25 60,680 60,587 93 
2016 0.25 61 ,131 61 ,131 0 
2015 0.19 44,446 44,446 0 
2014 0.19 42,675 42,609 66 

All deliquent taxes have been turned over to the County. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Debt Service Requirements-
General Obligation Debt 

June 30, 2024 

Capital Outlay Note Capital Outlay Note Capital Outlay Note Bond 
Caestar State Bank TMBF Securi!}'. Bank & Trust Total 

Year Princieal Interest Principal Interest Princieal Interest Princieal Interest PrinciQal Interest 

2025 s 26,165 1.512 26,002 2,646 10,744 2,160 41 ,000 24,636 103,911 30,954 
2026 26,664 1,013 26,856 1,792 11,290 1,761 42,000 22,320 106,810 26,886 
2027 27,737 911 11,850 1,202 44,000 21 ,092 83,587 23,205 
2028 12,440 616 45,000 19,837 57 ,440 20,453 
2029 46,000 18,554 46,000 18,554 
2030 48,000 17,214 48,000 17,214 
2031 49,000 15,847 49,000 15,847 
2032 50,000 14,452 50,000 14,452 
2033 52,000 13,001 52,000 13,001 
2034 53,000 11,523 53,000 11,523 
2035 54,000 10,016 54,000 10,016 
2036 56,000 8,454 56 ,000 8,454 
2037 57 ,000 6,863 57,000 6,863 
2038 59,000 5,217 59,000 5,217 
2039 61,000 3,515 61,000 3,515 

2040 62,000 1,786 62,000 1,786 
2041 64,000 984 64,000 984 

s 52,829 2,525 80,595 5.349 46,324 5,739 883,000 215,312 1,062,748 228,925 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Debt Service Requirements 
Water and Sewer Fund 

June 30, 2024 

2021 Water Revenue 2017 Water and Sewer 2023 Vehicle Loan 
Bond Revenue and Tax Bond TOTAL TOTAL 

Year Princfeal Interest Princieal Interest Princieal Interest Princieal Interest 

2025 $ 42,100 10,050 23,853 9,464 8,903 1,714 74,856 21,228 
2026 43 ,100 8,744 24,396 8,922 9,331 1,286 76,827 18,952 
2027 44,200 7,608 24,951 8,367 9,779 838 78 ,930 16,813 
2028 45,400 6,619 25,516 7 ,800 10,248 369 81 ,164 14,788 
2029 46,500 5,759 26,099 7,220 72,599 '12,979 
2030 47,700 5,011 26,691 6,626 74,391 11,637 
2031 48 ,900 3,758 27,297 6,020 76,197 9,778 
2032 50,200 2,556 27 ,919 5,399 78,119 7,955 
2033 51,400 1,278 28,554 4,764 79,954 6,042 
2034 52,700 653 29,204 4,115 81,904 4,768 
2035 29,866 3,451 29,866 3,451 

2036 30,546 2,772 30,546 2,772 
2037 31,239 2,078 31,239 2,078 
2038 31 ,950 1,368 31 ,950 1,368 
2039 28,646 641 28,646 641 

$ 472,200 52,036 416.727 79,007 38,261 4,206 927.188 135,249 

Additionally, the Water and Sewer fund has a interim construction loan of $990,846. This loan will be included 
in this schedule once the loan is fully funded. 
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Year 
2025 $ 
2026 
2027 
2028 

$ 

CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Debt Service Requirements 
Natural Gas Fund 

June 30, 2024 

Natural Gas Revenue 2023 Vehicle Loan 
Series 2021 

Principal Interest Principal Interest 

33 ,500 974 7,284 1,403 
7,634 1,052 
8,001 685 
8,385 302 

33,500 974 31 ,304 3,442 
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TOTAL TOTAL 
Principal Interest 

40,784 2,377 
7,634 1,052 
8,001 685 
8,385 302 

64,804 4,416 



Year 
2025 
2026 
2027 
2028 

CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Debt Service Requirements 
Sanitation Fund 

June 30, 2024 

Capital Outlay Note 
Trustmark Bank 

Principal Interest 

$ 26,400 2,120 
26 ,900 1,605 
27,400 1,080 
28,000 546 

$ 108,700 5,351 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Changes in Long-term Debt by Individual Issue 

June30, 2024 

Paid and/or 
Originnl Date Last Issued tv{atured Refunded 
Amount Interest of Maturity Outstanding During During During Outstanding 
ofTssue Rate Issue Date 7/1/2023 Period Period Period 6/30/2024 

Business-Type Activities 

Water and Sewer Fund 

2023 Vehicle Loan 46,487 4.750% 2023 3/14/2028 $ 46,487 $ s $ 8,226 $ 38,261 
Series 2021 553,187 2.400% 2021 6/30/2034 s 513,200 s s s 41,000 $ 472,200 
Interim construction loan 990,846 n/a 2024 12/28/2028 s s 990,846 $ s $ 990,846 
Series 2017 536,000 2.25% 2019 11/17/2039 s 440.051 $ s s 23,324 $ 416,727 

Total Water and Sewer $ 999,738 $ 990,846 $ s 72,550 $ 1,918,034 

Natural Gas Fund 

2023 Vehicle Loan 38,514 4.750% 2023 3/14/2028 $ 38,514 $ $ $ 7,210 $ 31 ,304 
Series 2021 99,000 1.47% 2021 6/30/2025 $ 66,500 $ s $ 33,000 $ 33,500 

Tota l Natural Gas Fund $ 105,014 $ $ $ 40,210 $ 64,804 

Sanitation Fund 

Trustmark Sank 160,000 1.95% 2021 11/1/2027 $ 134 600 $ s $ 25,900 $ 108,700 

Total Sanitation Fund $ 134,600 $ $ $ 25,900 $ 108,700 

Governmental Activities 

Capstar 123,853 2.93% 2021 6/30/2026 $ 78,231 $ $ $ 25,402 $ 52,829 
Security Bank & Trust 1,000,000 2.79% 2021 8/2/1905 $ 365,734 $ 557,266 $ $ 40,000 $ 883,000 

TMBF 46,324 2.05% 2016 5/1/2023 $ $ 46,324 $ $ $ 46,324 

State Bank 33,080 3.968% 2021 4/1/2024 $ 9,704 $ $ $ 9,704 $ 

State Bank 23,243 2.888% 2020 7/1 /2023 $ 678 $ $ $ 678 $ 

State Bank 179,000 3.23% 2020 2/1/2027 $ 105,771 s $ $ 25,176 $ 80,595 

Total Governmental Activities s 560 118 $ 603,590 s s 100,960 $ 1,062,748 
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Water Rates - ~esr/Jcotiat 

SEr>ver Rates- Resrdenllal 

Natural Gas Rates - Residential 

O - 300cu. It. 

All over 300 cu.fl. 

Large Commercial and Industrial 

Sanitation Rates - Residential 

CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Utility Rates In Force 

June 30, 2024 

lnslde City 

$7.50 Minimum charge plus $0.50 per 100 gallons 

Inside City 

$15.00 Minimum charge plus $0.50 per 100 gallons 

$3.00 

$9.50 

$9.50 

$10.00 

Oulsrde Cllt 

$17 .50 Mlnlmum charge plus $0.50 per 100 gallons 

Outside City 

$20.00 Minimum charge plus $0.50 per 100 gallons 

$3.00 

$9.50 

$9.50 

$30.00 

There were approximately 1,675 water customers, approximatelys825 sewer customers ano approxfmaUey 
775 natural gas customers at yearend . 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Federal and State Financial Assistance 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2,024 

Receivable Receivable 
Assistance State (Deferred) (Deferred) 

Listing Grant Balance Grant Other Grant Balance 
Number Number Grantor Agency June 301 2023 Receipts Receipts Expenditures June 30, 2024 

State Program: 

NIA Z-23THSO128 Tennessee Department 
of T ranspor!.ltion 0 4,075 0 4,075 0 

N/A 32701-04554 Local Parks and Receation 
Fund 0 215,317 0 215,317 0 

Total State 0 219,392 0 219,392 0 
Federal Program: 

14.228 2018 CDBG Water System Tennessee Department .of 
Improvement Econom1c and Community 

Development from U. S 0 38,288 0 38,288 a 
Department of HUD 

21.027 American Rescue Plan Act US Department of Treasury 
thru the State of Tennessee ($279,445) 0 0 48.065 ($231,380) 

97.044 Assistance to Firefighters FEMA thru the T eMessee 
Emergency Management Agency so 370,800 0 370,800 $0 

Appalachian Regional 
23 .002 Utility tmprovemeuts Commission Program $0 235,600 0 723,001 487,40 I 

Total Federal (279,44 644,688 0 1,180,154 256,021 

Total Federal and State (279.445) 864,080 0 1,399,546 256,021 

This schedule prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. 
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CJTY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

June 30, 2024 

Assistance 
Listing 

Gr:uuor J\gcn~y Number ~xpcndmuc 

2018 CDBG Water System Improvement Tennessee Department of 
Economic and Community 
Development from U. S 
Department of HUD 14.228 38,288 

American Rescue Plan Act US Depru-tment ofTreasury 
thru the State of1ennesset 21.027 48,065 

Assistance to Firefighters FEMA thtu the Tennessee 
Emergency Management Agency 97.044 370,800 

Utility Improvements Appalachian Regional 
Commission Program 23.002 723,001 

Total 1,180,154 

1. This schedule is prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. 

2. The Orgunization did not elect to use the 10% deminimis cost rate. 

3. The Organization had $0 related to any grant program. 
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COMPLIANCE AND 
INTERNAL CONTROL 



JOHN R. P □□ LE, CPA 
CERTIF"IED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT 

1 34 NORTHLAKE DRIVE 

HENDERSONVILLE, TN 37075 

Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Loretto, Tennessee 
Loretto, Te1messee 

(615) 822-4 1 77 

I ba • audited in accordan ·e with auditing stand rds generally ccepled in th United l ll s of 
mcrica and the ·tandard app li able to fin n ial udits nt incd in ·overnment uditing 

Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the 
gov -rnmental tivilies the busiu, ss type activities, antl each major fund as of and for th year 
en<lcd June 30 02 and th r lat d notes to the financial tatem nts, which coJlectiv ly comprise 
the City of Loretta's basic financial statements and have issued a report thereon dated December 
16, 2024. 

Internal ontrol Over Financial Rcpo1·ting 
In planning and p rf nning my audit of the financi I tat ments, I consid red th ity of or ·tto s 
internal c.:ontrol ov r finan ial reporting internal control ) as a basi ford signing audit procedure. 
that are appropriat in the circumstances for the purp se ofexpr ssing an opinion on the financial 
statement ' but not for the purpose of e, pressing an opinion on th effectiv ness f the ity of 
Loretto'sintemal control.Accordingly, Idonot pr sanopiniononlhecffe tiveu s ofthe i 
of Loretto' s internal control. 

dcfici n ·y in int rnal ontr 1 cxi . ts when th design or uperalion of a control do s n t allow 
maoag mcnl or cmplo ee . in th normal OUt"e f p rforming their assigned fun ·ti ns t pr ent 
or dcle ·t and corr ct miss1atero ·nts on a lim ly basi . A mat rial v eakness i a deficicn • or 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
mat rial mi ·tatement of the entity' financial statem nts will not b pre ent d or detc ted and 
·orrccte I n a Lim I ba is. J\ significant d ficiency is a dcfici n , or a ombinaLion of 

deficiencies in int ma! ontrol that is less er than a material wcaknes , y -t important enough 
to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

M on id ration of th internal ontrol a for th limited purpos ~ described in the preceding 
paragrapl1 and as not de ign cl to identiJy all deficien i s in internal control that might be 
material w aknesscs or signifi ant deficiencies and therefore, mat rial weaknesse or signilicant 
defi ion ics ma exist that were not identified. I did identi cert, ind ciencie in internal control, 
des rib cJ in Lh ~ ac 'Ompanying Schedule of Findings and Re ponses s items 2024-001 and -024-
002, !hat I consider to be material weaknesses. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Loretto'.s financial statements 
are free of material misstatement, r performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws. regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct 
and material eilect on the determination of the Cinancial statement an1ounts. However, providing 
an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of the audit and, accordingly. 
I do not express such an opinion. The results of the tests disclosed no instances of noncomplfancc 
or other matters thot are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Response to Findings 
·n1e City or Lorelto,s response to the .finding identified in the audit is described in the Schedule of 
Findings anti Responses. The City of Loretta's response was not subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied iJ1 the audit of lbe flnancial statements and, accordingly, I express no opinion 
on it. 

Purpose of Th.is Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of the Lesting of internal control and 
compliance and the resuJ t or that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
cntity 1s internal control or on compliance. TI1is teport is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Gc~vcrnmcnt Auditing Standards in considering the entity's internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

December l 6, 2024 
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JOHN R. POOLE, CPA 
CERTIF'IED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT 

1 34 NORTHLAKE DRIVE 

HENDERSONVILLE, TN 37075 
(61 5) 822 - 4 1 77 

INDEP NDENT A ON COMPLIAN l 
FEDERAL t>ROG . . TERNAL CONT! CE 

Mayor and Members of the City Council 
City of Loretto, Tennessee 
Loretto, Tennessee 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

Opinion on Eaclt Major Federal Program 

I ha ' audit cJ the ity of Loretto s <.:ornplianc with th types of complianc requirem nts 
identifi d as subj ct to audit in the U.S. Ofjl e ofA;fan .rgem nt and Budgi I (i 'AJB omp/ianca 

11pp/ ' Ill •nl that could ha a dir~ct nd mat rial ff ct on each of its major Ii d ral pr grams for 
th y ar nd d Jun 30. 20-4. The Or anization's major f deral programs are id ntified in the 
sumrnru of tb auditor' result section of the accompanying chedule of Findings and 
Questioned Costs. 

ln m opinion: the 'it of LoretL ·om plied in all material respects, with th t p r compliance 
r<.:qufr m nt rdi 1T d to ab e Lhat c uld have a dir ct and material ff ct n ea ·h of its mujor 
fc deral program for th yeur end d Jun 3 2024. 

Basis for Opinion on Eac/z Major Federal Program 

I conducted my audit of compliance in accordance ith auditing standard generally ace pted in 
the United States of America; the standards applicabl lo financial audits ontain d in th 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the C mptrnll r General of the nil d tale and the 
audit requirements f Title_ U ode of F deral Regulation Prut _oo, niform dminislrativ' 
R 'q1iircm nt , Cot Prin iples, and Auclit R quir m nts for P d ral wards (Uniform Guidanc . 

y ruspon:ibilitie und r thos tandards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the 
Audjtor R spon ibilities f r thl! udit of Lbe Compliance section of my report. 

I am requi re to b indep nd nl ofthc it L r tto and to me L my other thical r sp n ibilities. 
in accordum: , ith the r le ant cthi ·al r quircm •nh-i relating Lo m udit. 1 b • Ji1;VC that th audit 
evidence I l1ave obtained is sufficient and appropriat to provide a b sis for my audit opinion on 
complianc for ea h major programs. Our audit does not provid a legal d tennination of the City 
ofLorctto·s omplian with the complian e requirements referred to above. 
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Responsibilities of Management/or Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the 
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grants agreements 
applicable to the City of Loretta's federal programs. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and to express 
an opinion of the City ofLoretto's compliance based on the audit. Reasonable ~ssurance is a high 
level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing 
Standards and the Unifo rm Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. 
The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the oven-ide of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that. 
individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgement made by a reasonable user of 
the report on compliance about the City of Loretta's compliance with the requirements of each 
major federal program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government 
Auditing Standards and the Uniform Guidance, I: 

❖ Exercise professionaljudgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audjl. 
❖ Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding City of Lorette's compliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as I 
considered necessary in the circumstances. 

❖ Obtain an understanding of the City of Loretta's internal control over compliance relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circwnstances, 
and to test and repo1i on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform 
Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City 
of Loretta's internal control over complinnce. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

I am required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses 
in internal control over compliance that I identified dming the audit. 
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Other Matters 

The results of the auditing procedures disclosed no instances of noncompliance, which are 
required to be reported in accordance with Uniform Guidance. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a 
control over compliance does not al low management or employees, in the normal course of 
performing. their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct noncompliance with the 
types of compliance rcquirc111cn1s of a redcral program 011 a timely basis. A material 
weakness in internal control over compliance is n deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material 
noncompliance with a type of complfance requirement of a federal program will not be 
prevented, or delccted and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant de.ficie11cy in inlcrnal 
contrnl over compliance is a dcDciency. or a combination of deficiencies. in inlernaJ control 
over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a fodcral progTam that is less 
severe than a material weakness in internal control ovct' compliance, yet important enough 
to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

My consideration of the internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose 
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might 
be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given 
these limitations, during the audit J did not identify any deficiencies in internal oonu·ol over 
compliance that I consider to be material weaknesses~ as defined above. However. material 
weaknesses or signiftcan1 deliciencies in internal contrnl over compliance may cxisl that 
have not been identified. 

My audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control over compliance. /\.ccorctingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely Lo describe lhe scope 
of the lC!$ting of internal control over compliance and the result of lhat testing based on the 
requirements of Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other 
purpose 

December 16, 2024 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

June 30, 2024 

Section I • Summary of Auditor's Results 

financial Statements 

The Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements was an unmodified opinion. 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

Material weakness identified ? Yes. 2024-001 Separation of Duties, 
2024-002 Journal Entries 

Significant deficiencies identified ? None reported 

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted ? No. 

Federal A wards 

Internal control over major programs: 

Material weakness identified ? No. 

Significant deficiencies identified ? None reponed 

The auditor's report on compliance for major programs was unmodified. 

There were no audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in accordance with 
2 CFR 200.516(a). 

The Major Programs were: 
Utility Improvements, Asssitance Listing Number 23.002 

Type A programs have been distinguished as those programs with expenditures greater than $750,000. 
No program met this threshold. 

The City was not considered to be a low risk auditee. 

Section Il - Financial Statement Findings 

There were two finding related to the financial statements which are required to be reported in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards. 2024-001 - Separation of Duties, 2024-002 Journal Entries. 

Section m - Federal A ward Findings and Questioned Costs 

There were no findings related to Federal Awards. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements. 75 



CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Findings and Responses 

June 30, 2024 

2024-001 - Separation of Duties 

Condition: The City of Loretto currently has three employees that works in performing the majority of 
the accounting functions for the City. Due to only having three employees performing the accounting 
transactions there is currently an inadequate segregation of duties. 

Critc1fa: Generally accepted accounting principles require that accounting functions be adequately 
segregated to ensure that the internal accounting controls are effective. 

Cause: The City has a limited number of office employees to provide for a proper division of duties. 

Effect: The risk of errors and irregularities occurring and not being detected in a timely manner along 
with the possibility offi:aud or misappropriation of assets increases when accounting functions are not 
adequately segregated. 

RccommcmlaLion: For adcquak Sl:paru!ion of duties, lhe employee who writes receipts, prepares and 
m:.ik~,:; bank dq,osits, or writc!-i \.'.hecks sbould neither rc(;.oncilc bank statement's nor post to the cash 
receipts and disbursements journals. 

Response: '·Wi:. agree that the st'RIT size will not allow the City lo segregate dutic~. There are only three 
employees working in the accounting/finance department so it is not possible to segregate duties unless 
more staff were hi rod. At the present lime we do believe chis would not benefit the City to hire additional 
employees." 

2024~002 - Journal Entries 

ConLlition: Several year-end journal entries were needed to agree the general ledger to the supporting 
detail records. 

Cause: The City does not have adequate staffing for this accounting to occur. 

Criteria: Generally accepted accounting principles require that the general ledger agree to these detailed 
records. 

Effect: The risk of errors and irregularities occurring and not being detected in a timely manner 
increases when such accounts do not agree to the general ledger. 

Rccommcndmion: The general ledger should be reconciled to the account details on at least a monthly 
basis. 
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CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Findings and Responses. continued 

June 30, 2024 

Response: "We agree. We will work to reduce the journal entries needed at year end. The contact:person 
for this activity is our CMFO:' 
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Finding Number 

2023 - 001 

CITY OF LORETTO, TENNESSEE 

Schedule of Disposition of Prior YeaT Comments 

June 30, 2024 

Findir1g Title 

Separation of Duties 

Status 

Repeated 

The original finding number was 2007-001. The current year finding number is 2024-001. 

2023 - 002 Journal Entries Repeated 

The original finding number was 2020-002. The current year finding number is 2024-002. 
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Management's Corrective Action Plan 

Audit period: June 30, 2024 

The findings from the June 30, 2024, Schedule of Findings and ReJponses are discussed below. 

2024-00 l Segregation of Duties (lntemal Control) 

J> l.111111:d 1 01 n .. ~LI\ ~ ,:\L' lH!!J.: We do not think hiring additional staff to adequately separate 
thL'. dutii.:s is an appropri:ttl' action at this tim..:, The Board of Aldermen continues to 
monitor our finances and internal control. 

. \nt1.;ip~tL·\.I l 'umr~klit)n Dat~: At the curreht time, due to our size, we do not believe we 
can fully segregate these duties. We will continue to improve and strengthen our internal 
controls, but we cannot give a definite date. 

2024-002 - Journal Entries 

Coptacl l)l'. l'so11: Jesse Tumer 

Pln11ni:•d C\im:divc Actiun: We will wo.rk to reduce the journal entries needed at year end. 

Signature:_.-:..,,,"""•J'-"7-__ [ _· _. __ l_i_•-_. ,_-v_ -_ _ _ _ 
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